# FROM DYSON–SCHWINGER EQUATIONS TO QUANTUM ENTANGLEMENT

## ALI SHOJAEI-FARD

ABSTRACT. We apply combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations and their Feynman graphon representations to study quantum entanglement in a gauge field theory  $\Phi$  in terms of cut-distance regions of Feynman diagrams in the topological renormalization Hopf algebra  $H_{\rm FG}^{\rm cut}(\Phi)$  and lattices of intermediate structures. Feynman diagrams in  $H_{\rm FG}(\Phi)$  are applied to describe states in  $\Phi$  where we build the Fisher information metric on finite dimensional linear subspaces of states in terms of homomorphism densities of Feynman graphons which are continuous functionals on the topological space  $\mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon}}^{\Phi, M \subseteq [0,\infty)}([0,1])$ . We associate Hopf subalgebras of  $H_{\rm FG}(\Phi)$  generated by quantum motions to separated regions of space-time to address some new correlations. These correlations are encoded by assigning a statistical manifold to the space of 1PI Green's functions of  $\Phi$ . These correlations are applied to build lattices of Hopf subalgebras, Lie subgroups and Tannakian subcategories, derived from towers of combinatorial Dyson-Schwinger equations, which contribute to separated but correlated cut-distance topological regions. This lattice setting is applied to formulate a new tower of renormalization groups which encodes quantum entanglement of space-time separated particles under different energy scales.

### Contents

1. Introduction	2
1.1. Entanglement: From quantum mechanics to quantum field theory	3
1.2. From Feynman diagrams to Feynman graphons	4
1.3. Dyson–Schwinger equations	7
1.4. Original achievements	9
2. Correlations between separated regions in $H_{\rm FG}^{\rm cut}(\Phi)$	10

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. 05C63; 16T05; 81P40; 81T18.

*Key words and phrases.* Gauge field theories and Hopf algebras; Quantum entanglement; Dyson–Schwinger equations; Homomorphism densities; Feynman graphons; Lattices and intermediate structures.

This version of the article has been accepted for publication, after peer review (when applicable) but is not the Version of Record and does not reflect post-acceptance improvements, or any corrections. The Version of Record is available online at: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10958-022-06171-6

Use of this Accepted Version is subject to the publisher's Accepted Manuscript terms of use

https://www.springernature.com/gp/open-research/policies/accepted-manuscript-terms. MPIM Library Repository

Ali Shojaei-Fard, ORCID iD: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6418-3227.

2.1. Fisher information metric between states in a gauge field theory via Feynma	n
graphons	10
2.2. Correlations via combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations	15
2.3. A statistical manifold associated with the space of 1PI Green's functions	18
3. A lattice model for quantum entanglement	21
4. Intermediate algorithms associated with quantum entanglement	26
5. A renormalization group setting for quantum entanglement	28
6. Conclusion	31
7. Declarations and Acknowledgements	32
References	33

## 1. INTRODUCTION

Recently, we applied theory of graphons to obtain some new analytic and computational tools for the study of non-perturbative solutions of quantum motions, encoded by Dyson–Schwinger equations, in gauge filed theories [25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 33, 34]. The space of Feynman diagrams of a gauge field theory can be topologically completed with respect to the topology of graphons [28, 29]. This topological enrichment is useful to formulate random graph representations for solutions of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations [26, 28, 29, 34]. This research work presents some new applications of Feynman graphon models in designing a new algebraic approach to quantum entanglement in gauge field theories. For a gauge field theory  $\Phi$ , we associate a particular class of commutative Hopf subalgebras to space-time regions. They are Hopf subalgebras of solutions of quantum motions in  $\Phi$  which can be topologically completed by using the space of Feynman graphons. We introduce basic states in  $\Phi$  in terms of 1PI primitive Feynman diagrams of the renormalization Hopf algebra  $H_{\rm FG}(\Phi)$ . We relate our new framework to Reeh–Schlieder theorem where we build non-zero correlations between separated cut-distance topological regions of Feynman diagrams, as space-time diagrams, such that each region of this type corresponds to a space-time region. Thanks to the homomorphism densities of Feynman graphons [28, 29], we introduce the Fisher information metric on finite dimensional linear subspaces of qft-states and then develop it to build a new statistical manifold associated with the space of 1PI Green's functions of  $\Phi$ . Thereafter we explain the structures of lattices of Hopf subalgebras and Lie subgroups built on the cut-distance topological regions of Feynman diagrams in  $\Phi$  which contribute to solutions of towers of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations. These lattices encode information flow between space-time separated particles at qft-states in terms of intermediate algorithms which encode non-zero correlations between separated regions of space-time. In addition, we relate a lattice of Tannakian subcategories to quantum entanglement to build a renormalization group program. A tower of renormalization groups is built to show the compatibility of this new lattice setting under changing the energy scales in the physical theory.

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

3

1.1. Entanglement: From quantum mechanics to quantum field theory. Quantum mechanics associates some probability values to final states of physical systems of particles with microscopic scales in terms of the information of their initial states. The transition amplitude from the initial state to the final state is defined as a sum over all (unobserved) intermediate states. In entangled systems, the outcome measured by the first experimenter in one coordinate is interconnected with the choice made at the last moment by the second experimenter in another coordinate while no information can travel from those coordinates within a pre-stipulated period of time without moving faster than the speed of light. There exist certain observables which can not consistently be assigned values at all. The evolution of a quantum system can be encoded in terms of the Schrödinger equations between measurements at which they collapse to the eigenstates of the measured variables. In non-measurement interactions, the evolution of states can be studied in terms of a linear and unitary equation of motion while the particle pair in the Einstein–Podolsky–Rosen experiment remains in an entangled state. Therefore in a spin measurement, the pointers of the measurement tools are entangled with the particle pair in a non-separable state such that the indefiniteness of spins of particles is transmitted to the pointer's coordinate. However the notion of measurement is the key problem in this approach to quantum systems where adding a non-linear term to the Schrödinger equation can be useful to deal with this challenge. [13, 18, 19, 23]

Quantum field theory is built on the basis of quantum mechanics and special relativity where there exists an equivalence between matter and energy. Incoming particles collide and generate some outgoing particles with different nature while the momentum energy tensor is conserved. Initial and final states represent a fixed number of particles with assigned energy values. However unobserved intermediate states can involve any number of virtual particles with arbitrarily energy values which diverge when the upper limit of the energy of the virtual particles tends to infinity. If some parameters of a given physical theory (such as masses and coupling constants) are chosen as functions of the energy scale, then we can expect to generate some finite values in terms of perturbative renormalization. Strong running coupling constants in gauge field theories generate non-perturbative aspects where perturbation theory fails to compute non-perturbative parameters. Non-perturbative aspects are encoded in terms of towers of strongly coupled Dyson–Schwinger equations derived from fixed point equations of Green's functions. Solutions of these (systems of) equations are presented in terms of infinite power series of running coupling constants with higher loop order Feynman diagrams as coefficients. [9, 22, 30, 36]

Quantum entanglement in quantum field theory is one of the most important research topics in theoretical high and low energy physics [2, 3, 7, 8]. Quantum entanglement between particles in separated space-time regions

has been considered in terms of tracing over the spinor or vector components and different fields as an intrinsic measurable physical property in relativistic models [35]. In this setting, a particular momentum-spin mode defined by a free single particle basis state may not be directly measurable because of renormalization. Reeh–Schlieder theorem in algebraic quantum field theory describes quantum entanglement under the notion of locality such that it involves entanglement between degrees of freedom inside an open region in the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  of states and its causal complement. In this setting, bounded algebras of local operators assigned to separated space-like regions provide non-zero correlations. In other words, any open region U in Minkowski space-time is decorated by a local algebra consisting of all operators supported in U. Then it is shown that each arbitrary state in  $\mathcal{H}$  of a quantum field theory can be approximated by  $A_U \mid \varpi_0$  with respect to the vacuum state  $\varpi_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  and some local operator  $A_U$  supported in U. The operator  $A_U$  acts on  $\varpi_0$  to generate the state

(1) 
$$\psi(x_1)...\psi(x_n) \mid \varpi_0 \rangle = A_U \mid \varpi_0 \rangle$$

such that  $x_1, ..., x_n \in U$  while  $\psi(x_i)$  are field operators defined in  $A_U$ . States  $A_U \mid \varpi_0$  are dense in  $\mathcal{H}$ . The action of  $A_U$  on  $\varpi_0$  can approximate another state in a space-like separated region V from U. In the vacuum state, two operators, which are supported in the separated space-like regions U and V, can be recognized such that they do not commute. This produces a non-zero correlation function which guarantees quantum entanglement. While the Hilbert space of quantum field theory does not factorize, Tomita–Takesaki modular operators are applied to analyze quantum entanglement. [11, 24, 37, 40]

1.2. From Feynman diagrams to Feynman graphons. Feynman diagrams are main tools for the combinatorial presentation of Green's functions in gauge field theories. Feynman rules associate an iterated ill-defined integral to each Feynman diagram where sub-divergences in the integral are encoded by nested loops. The superficial degree of divergence determines the type of divergence or convergence of a loop in its integral presentation.

**Definition 1.1.** A Feynman diagram is a space-time oriented decorated diagram  $\Gamma$  such that it has the following properties.

- Under charge conjugate, parity reversal and reversing the flow of time, a matter particle is exactly the same as its anti-matter particle in  $\Gamma$ .
- $\Gamma$  has a vertex set  $\Gamma^{[0]}$  which presents interactions between particles in the diagram. An interaction is allowed if it does not violate rules of the Standard Model.
- $\Gamma$  has an edge set  $\Gamma^{[1]}$  which presents particles. The subset  $\Gamma^{[1]}_{int}$ , which contains edges with beginning and ending vertices, encodes

virtual particles. The subset  $\Gamma_{\text{ext}}^{[1]}$ , which contains edges with beginning or ending vertex, encodes elementary particles in the physical theory.

5

• Objects of Γ<sup>[1]</sup> are labeled by momenta information where at each vertex momentum conservation law is valid.

The BPHZ perturbative renormalization provides a recursive machinery for the removal of sub-divergences from integrals to extract some finite values. This renormalization program, built in terms of the (Bogoliubov– )Zimmermann's forest formula, is encapsulated by the coproduct

(2) 
$$\Delta(\Gamma) = \Gamma \otimes \mathbb{I} + \mathbb{I} \otimes \Gamma + \sum_{\gamma \subset \Gamma} \gamma \otimes \Gamma/\gamma$$

such that the sum is taken over all disjoint unions of 1PI divergent proper subgraphs [4, 14, 17]. If the sum is over all proper subgraphs, then we have the core version of this coproduct which is useful for generalized physical theories such as quantum gravity. However we use the phrase "Feynman subdiagram" for those subgraphs which have at least a superficial (sub-)divergence.

The number of internal edges or the loop number, as the graduation parameters, are applied to formulate a graded connected commutative noncocommutative Hopf algebra structure  $H_{\text{FG}}(\Phi)$  over the field  $\mathbb{Q}$  on the set of Feynman diagrams in a gauge field theory  $\Phi$  which is freely generated by 1PI Feynman diagrams. It is called Connes–Kreimer renormalization Hopf algebra of Feynman diagrams. [1, 17]

**Definition 1.2.** For any primitive Feynman diagram  $\gamma$ , define the grafting operator  $B_{\gamma}^+ : H_{\text{FG}}(\Phi) \to H_{\text{FG}}(\Phi)$  as a linear homogeneous operator. For each Feynman diagram  $\Gamma$ ,  $B_{\gamma}^+$  replaces a vertex in  $\gamma$  with  $\Gamma$  in terms of the compatibility between types of vertices in  $\gamma$  and types of external edges in  $\Gamma$ .

 $B^+_{\gamma}(\Gamma)$  is a formal linear expansion of Feynman diagrams as the result of all possible replacement choices. From the formula (2), it can be seen that

(3) 
$$\Delta \circ B^+_{\gamma}(\Gamma) = B^+_{\gamma}(\Gamma) \otimes \mathbb{I} + (\mathrm{Id} \otimes B^+_{\gamma}) \circ \Delta(\Gamma) \; .$$

This recursive formula is useful to rebuild Feynman diagrams in terms of their primitive components and (quasi-)shuffle type products. [4, 14, 16]

The renormalization Hopf algebra has a universal model in terms of the space of non-planar rooted trees where the renormalization coproduct (2) is reformulated recursively in terms of the grafting operator and admissible cuts [4, 16]. The resulting combinatorial Hopf algebra  $H_{\rm CK}$  is the graded connected finite type free commutative non-cocommutative Hopf algebra of non-planar rooted trees. Using suitable packages of decorations enables us to represent Feynman diagrams via decorated non-planar rooted trees or their linear combinations. For example, the collection of primitive 1PI Feynman

diagrams or the collection of loops can be applied as labels for vertex sets of rooted trees.

- **Theorem 1.3.** Consider the category  $C_{\text{Hopf}}$  of pairs (H, L) of commutative Hopf algebras together with Hocschild one-cocycles  $L : H \rightarrow$ H. A morphism  $f : (H_1, L_1) \rightarrow (H_2, L_2)$  is a homomorphism of Hopf algebras such that  $f \circ L_1 = L_2 \circ f$ .  $(H_{\text{CK}}, B^+)$  is the initial object of  $C_{\text{Hopf}}$ .
  - For a gauge field theory  $\Phi$ , there exists an injective homomorphism of Hopf algebras from  $H_{\text{FG}}(\Phi)$  to  $H_{\text{CK}}(\Phi)$  such that trees are decorated by 1PI primitive Feynman diagrams of the physical theory.
  - Fundamental identities between Feynman diagrams in  $\Phi$  are encoded by some Hopf ideals  $I(\Phi)$  of the renormalization Hopf algebra. In this case, the quotient Hopf algebras  $H_{\rm FG}(\Phi)/I(\Phi)$  can be embedded into the combinatorial quotient Hopf algebras  $H_{\rm CK}(\Phi)/\tilde{I}(\Phi)$ .

```
[14, 16, 38]
```

Therefore Feynman diagrams can be simplified in terms of decorated versions of rooted trees where the vertex set of each tree encodes nested loops or sub-divergences in the corresponding Feynman integral. Theory of graphons for sparse graphs ([5, 6]) allows us to associate graph functions to Feynman diagrams which leads us to formulate the notion of convergence for the sequences of Feynman diagrams with increasing loop numbers which have almost zero density.

**Definition 1.4.** Consider a gauge field theory  $\Phi$ .

- For any Feynman diagram  $\Gamma$  in  $\Phi$ , the adjacency matrix of its rooted tree representation  $t_{\Gamma}$  determines a bounded symmetric Lebesgue measurable function  $P_{\Gamma} : [0, 1] \times [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$  which is called the pixel picture of  $\Gamma$ .
- For an invertible Lebesgue measure preserving transformation  $\rho$  on  $[0,1], P_{\Gamma}^{\rho} : [0,1] \times [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$  is called a labeled Feynman graphon associated with  $\Gamma$  such that  $P_{\Gamma}^{\rho}(x,y) := P_{\Gamma}(\rho(x),\rho(y)).$
- Labeled Feynman graphons  $Z_1$  and  $Z_2$  associated with  $\Gamma$  are called weakly isomorphic (i.e.  $Z_1 \approx Z_2$ ) iff there exist Lebesgue measure preserving transformations  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  such that  $Z_1 = P_{\Gamma}^{\rho_1}$  and  $Z_2 = P_{\Gamma}^{\rho_2}$ almost everywhere with respect to the Lebesgue measure.
- Define a unique equivalence class

(4)

 $[W_{\Gamma}]_{\approx} := \{Z : Z \approx P_{\Gamma}\} = \{P_{\Gamma}^{\nu} : \nu \text{ Lebesgue measure preserving transformation on } [0,1]\}.$ 

It is called the unlabeled Feynman graphon class associated with  $\Gamma$ .

• For an arbitrary ground measure space  $(\Omega, \mu_{\Omega})$  together with any  $\mu_{\Omega}$ -measure preserving transformation  $\theta$ , the bounded symmetric  $\mu_{\Omega}$ -measurable function  $W_{\Gamma}^{\theta} : \Omega \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  is called a stretched labeled Feynman graphon associated with  $\Gamma$ .

 $\mathbf{6}$ 

- Remark 1.5. For any Feynman digram  $\Gamma$  with overlapping sub-divergences, its tree representation is a linear combination  $t_{\Gamma} = s_1 + \ldots + s_n$  of decorated non-planar rooted trees. In this case, any Feynman graphon  $W_{\Gamma}$  is a direct sum of Feynman graphons  $W_{s_i}$  which are defined on the intervals  $I_i \subset [0, 1]$  such that  $I_i \cap I_j = \emptyset$  for all  $i \neq j$  and  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n I_i \subseteq [0, 1]$ .
  - Stretched Feynman graphons are obtained in terms of the rescaling of the basic ground measure space or the canonical graphons. Feynman graphons are applied to define a new distance on the space of Feynman diagrams.

[28, 29, 33, 34]

1.3. **Dyson–Schwinger equations.** The reformulation of the BPHZ perturbative renormalization in terms of the Connes–Kreimer renormalization Hopf algebra provided several computational tools in dealing with Feynman integrals and physical parameters in renormalizable theories. In addition, the applications of this Hopf algebraic school have already been considered in non-perturbative aspects of gauge field theories where fundamental identities between Feynman diagrams and quantum motions are encapsulated in terms of Hopf ideals and Hochschild equations.

Dyson–Schwinger equations, which are generalizations of the Heisenberg equations of motion, determine quantum motions in gauge field theories. These equations, which are derived from the interaction part of the Lagrangian, contain coupled systems of integral equations generated by fixed point equations of Green's functions. Solutions of Dyson–Schwinger equations are polynomials with respect to running coupling constants. Regularization techniques replace space-time with a finite hyper-cubic lattice of points. In this setting, a continuous variable is replaced with a discrete variable with finite range, field and source functions become finite dimensional variables and the differential operator becomes a symmetric matrix. Therefore functional derivatives can be replaced with ordinary partial derivatives where the Fourier transform of the discrete version of Dyson–Schwinger equations generates a set of first-order partial differential equations [22, 36]. Under a different setting, Dyson–Schwinger equations are reformulated in terms of the renormalization coproduct and Hochschild cohomology theory [17, 39].

**Definition 1.6.** Consider a gauge field theory  $\Phi$ . Define a complex  $(\{C_n\}_{n\geq 0}, \mathbf{b})$ . For each n, let  $C_n$  be the set of all linear maps from  $H_{\mathrm{FG}}(\Phi)$  to  $H_{\mathrm{FG}}(\Phi)^{\otimes n}$  such that  $C_0$  is the field with characteristic zero. Define a coboundary operator  $\mathbf{b}$  given by

(5) 
$$\mathbf{b}T := (\mathrm{Id} \otimes T)\Delta + \sum_{i=1}^{n} (-1)^{i} \Delta_{i}T + (-1)^{n+1}T \otimes \mathbb{I} .$$

The Hochschild cohomology of the complex  $(\{C_n\}_{n\geq 0}, \mathbf{b})$  encodes required information for the reconstruction of Dyson–Schwinger equations. For any

primitive Feynman diagram  $\gamma$ ,  $\mathbf{b}B_{\gamma}^+ = 0$  which means that it is a Hochschild one-cocycle. The grafting operators associated with primitive Feynman diagrams determine an important family of generators of the first rank cohomology group.

**Definition 1.7.** For a given family  $\{B_{\gamma_n}^+\}_{n\geq 1}$  of Hochschild one-cocycles corresponding to primitive Feynman diagrams  $\{\gamma_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ , the combinatorial recursive equation

(6) DSE: 
$$X = \mathbb{I} + \sum_{n \ge 1} (\lambda g)^n \omega_n B^+_{\gamma_n}(X^{n+1}), \ 0 < \lambda \le 1$$

identifies a class of Dyson–Schwinger equations underlying the running coupling constant  $\lambda g$ . It is called a combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation.

For  $n \geq 1$ ,  $\omega_n$  are some constants. We can replace  $(\lambda g)^n \omega_n$  with  $c(g)w_n$  such that c(g) is a function of the bare coupling constant generated by regularization techniques and  $w_n := c(g)^{n-1}\omega_n$ . Therefore the equation (6) encodes Dyson–Schwinger equations under all possible running coupling constants.

*Remark* 1.8. • The unique solution  $X_{\text{DSE}} = \sum_{n \ge 0} (\lambda g)^n X_n$  of an equation DSE is given by the recursive relations

(7) 
$$X_n = \sum_{j=1}^n \omega_j B_{\gamma_j}^+ \left( \sum_{k_1 + \dots + k_{j+1} = n-j, \ k_i \ge 0} X_{k_1} \dots X_{k_{j+1}} \right)$$

such that  $X_0$  is the empty graph.

- The large Feynman diagram  $X_{\text{DSE}}$  is an object in the completion of  $H_{\text{FG}}(\Phi)[[\lambda g]]$  with respect to the *n*-adic topology.
- Feynman diagrams  $X_n \in H_{FG}(\Phi)$  are generators of a graded connected free commutative Hopf subalgebra  $H_{DSE}$  of  $H_{FG}(\Phi)$ . This Hopf subalgebra is classified by the Faa di Bruno Hopf algebra and the Hopf algebra of symmetric functions.
- Non-linear Dyson–Schwinger equations, derived from strong (running) coupling constants, determine non-cocommutative Hopf subalgebras while linear Dyson–Schwinger equations, derived from physical theories with the vanishing  $\beta$ -function, determine cocommutative Hopf subalgebras.

# [10, 15, 17, 39]

Solutions of quantum motions under strong coupling constants generate infinite formal expansions of powers of coupling constants together with Feynman integrals with nested sub-divergences as coefficients. In combinatorial setting, these Feynman integrals are replaced with higher loop orders Feynman diagrams. Definition 1.7 and Remark 1.8 are applied to represent these non-perturbative expansions in terms of infinite direct sums of stretched Feynman graphon models (i.e. Theorem 2.10). The completenesss of the space of stretched Feynman graphons is applied for the interpretation

9

of the unique solution of a combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation as the cut-distance convergent limit of a sequence of random graph processes. As the consequence, a new non-perturbative renormalization program on the space of quantum motions are achieved. [29, 30, 31, 33, 34]

1.4. Original achievements. Consider a (strongly coupled) interacting gauge field theory  $\Phi$ . Thanks to the cut-distance topological space of Feynman diagrams (i.e. Definitions 1.4 and 2.5 and Remark 2.6), the renormalization Hopf algebraic approach to quantum motions (i.e. Definitions 1.2 and 1.7 and Remark 1.8) and Feynman graphon representations of solutions of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations (i.e. Definition 1.4 and Theorem 2.10), here we explain a new mathematical setting for the analysis of quantum entanglement in  $\Phi$  in terms of separated but correlated cut-distance topological regions of Feynman diagrams which contribute to solutions of towers of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations.

- Primitive Feynman diagrams in  $H_{\rm FG}(\Phi)$  (determined by Formula (2)) and the grafting operators (i.e. Definition 1.2) are applied to introduce qft-states in  $\Phi$  (i.e. Definitions 1.1 and 2.3). We apply homomorphism densities of Feynman graphons (i.e. Definition 2.7) to formulate the Fisher information metric on any finite dimensional subspaces of qft-states (i.e. Theorem 2.9).
- It is observed that Feynman diagrams, which contribute to solutions of quantum motions in  $\Phi$ , are rich enough to encapsulate building blocks of information flow between separated regions of space-time. Feynman graphons in the metric space  $S_{\text{graphon},\approx}^{\Phi,[0,1)}([a,b])$ , which encode solutions of quantum motions, are applied to associate some new topological algebras to space-time regions. See Remark 2.4 and Theorems 2.11 and 2.12 and Corollary 2.13.
- On the one hand, we associate a statistical manifold equipped with the Fisher information metric (37) to the space of 1PI Green's functions of  $\Phi$  to present correlations between separated regions in the topological renromalization Hopf algebra in terms of homomorphism densities of partial expansions of 1PI Green's functions with respect to Feynman graphons. On the other hand, towers of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations in  $\Phi$  are built in terms of the recursive process (39). Hopf subalgebras of solutions of these equations together with their Hopf sub-subalgebras are arranged in some lattice structures. These particular lattices, which are built on the cutdistance topological space of Feynman diagrams, enable us to mathematically encode information flow between space-time separated particles at different qft-states (i.e. Theorems 3.1 and 3.4). Therefore, correlations encoded by homomorphism densities together with lattices of Hopf subalgebras generated by towers of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations provide correlations between separated

regions of space-time. See Theorem 2.16, Corollaries 2.13, 3.3 and 3.6.

- Lattices of Hopf subalgebras of quantum motions are lifted onto the level of Lie (sub)groups to analyze quantum entanglement in terms of intermediate algorithms in theory of computation and Galois theory. See Corollaries 4.1 and 4.2.
- Lattices of Hopf subalgebras of quantum motions are lifted onto the level of Tannakian subcategories (i.e. Lemmas 5.1 and 5.2) to provide a new geometric interpretation of quantum entanglement in gauge field theories in terms of a new tower of renormalization groups. See Theorem 5.3 and Corollaries 5.4 and 5.5.
- 2. Correlations between separated regions in  $H_{\rm FG}^{\rm cut}(\Phi)$

Single-particle states of a non-interacting particle are labeled by quantum numbers, namely momentum k and other physical parameters u such as charge, spin, etc. The Hilbert space of states corresponding to this particle is given by the span  $\mathcal{H}_1 = \{ | \psi \rangle = \sum_{k,u} \alpha_{k,u} | ku \rangle \}$  such that  $\alpha_{k,u}$  are complex coefficients with respect to all possible values of k and u. The Nparticle Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_N$ , as a product of N copies of  $\mathcal{H}_1$ , is determined in terms of the span of all possible N-particle states. While a pure state is given when the probability  $p_{i_0} = 1$  for some state  $i_0$ , the state of a quantum system is not known and it is determined in terms of a linear combination of basic states  $|n\rangle$  with the probabilities  $p_n$  such that  $\sum_n p_n = 1$ . This means that some expectation values can be assigned to observables. [18]

The Hilbert space of quantum field theory includes the space of no-particle states and the space of all possible N-particle states for any integers  $N \ge 1$  where N tends to infinity. Therefore this infinite dimensional separable Hilbert space is a direct sum of subspaces associated with vacuum, one-particle, two-particles, etc. The interaction terms in Hamiltonian generate additional particles in 0-particle and one-particle states.

In this section, we review the structure of combinatorial Green's functions to describe states in a gauge field theory  $\Phi$  in terms of the objects of the renormalization Hopf algebra. Then we apply Feynman graphon representations of solutions of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations to address correlations between separated cut-distance topological regions of Feynman diagrams in the physical theory.

2.1. Fisher information metric between states in a gauge field theory via Feynman graphons. Creation and annihilation operators are two basic tools in quantum field theory where we concern quantum systems for which the number of particles can change. Any operator can be presented as a sum of products of creation and annihilation operators. The notation  $|(k_1, u_1)_{n_1}; ...; (k_l, u_l)_{n_l}\rangle$  presents a *N*-particle state in which each of its single-particle state  $|k_i u_i\rangle$  is occupied by  $n_i$  particles such that  $N = \sum_{i=1}^{l} n_i$ . The creation operator adds one particle to any given state while the annihilation operator removes one particle with a specific quantum number if this particle is present. Any multiple-particle state is obtained in terms of applying a combination of creation operators to the vacuum. This setting works for bosons as particles which can multiply occupy a state. The creation and annihilation operators for fermions are defined in terms of four cases generated by unoccupied and occupied states. The resulting fermionic states are antisymmetric under particle interchange. [22]

A space-time field is a trajectory  $t \mapsto \phi(t, \bullet)$  in the space of Klein–Gordon fields as classical fields. A time-ordered Green's function is defined by

(8) 
$$G_N(x_1, ..., x_N) = \langle 0 \mid T\phi(x_1)...\phi(x_N) \mid 0 \rangle$$

such that 0 is the vacuum state. The canonical quantization of Klein–Gordon fields gives their corresponding quantum fields  $\tilde{\phi}(t,x) = e^{itH}\tilde{\phi}(x)e^{-itH}$  with respect to the Hamiltonian H. These quantum fields are operators which can be presented in terms of linear combinations of creation and annihilation operators. Quantum fields act on the Fock space which is an infinite direct sum of (anti)symmetrized Hilbert spaces corresponding to a fixed number of particles. The quantum expectation value of a classical observable is given by  $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle = \mathfrak{n} \int \mathcal{O}(\phi) \exp\left(i\frac{S(\phi)}{\hbar}\right) \mathcal{D}[\phi]$  such that  $S(\phi) = S_0(\phi) + S_{int}(\phi)$  is the action functional,  $\mathfrak{n}$  is the normalization factor and  $\mathcal{D}$  is the measure on the linear space of classical fields.

**Definition 2.1.** Green's functions, as integral over histories, are formulated in terms of formal expansions of integral polynomials. We have

$$G_{N}(x_{1},...,x_{N}) = \mathfrak{n} \int \exp\left(i\frac{S(\phi)}{\hbar}\right) \phi(x_{1})...\phi(x_{N})\mathcal{D}[\phi]$$

$$(9) = \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{i^{n}}{n!} \int \phi(x_{1})...\phi(x_{N})S_{\text{int}}(\phi)^{n}d\mu\right) \cdot \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{i^{n}}{n!} \int S_{\text{int}}(\phi)^{n}d\mu\right)^{-1} =$$

$$(10)$$

$$\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{i^{n}}{n!} \int \langle 0 \mid T\tilde{\phi}_{0}(x_{1})...\tilde{\phi}_{0}(x_{N}) \prod_{j} \mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}(y_{j}) \mid 0 \rangle \prod_{j} dy_{j}\right) \cdot \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{i^{n}}{n!} \int \langle 0 \mid T \prod_{j} \mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}(y_{j}) \mid 0 \rangle \prod_{j} dy_{j}\right)^{-1}$$

such that  $\hbar = 1$ ,  $\langle 0 | 0 \rangle = 1$ ,  $d\mu = \exp\left(iS_0(\phi)\right)\mathcal{D}[\phi]$ ,  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}$  is the interaction part of the Lagrangian density and  $\tilde{\phi}_0$  is a free field. [9, 22]

Excitations of quantum fields of space-time determine elementary particles such that the ground state is considered as the vacuum. Non-zero energy of the vacuum in interacting theories can be interpreted as creation– annihilation of particle–antiparticle pairs. The vacuum state in free field theory is described as a tensor product of the Fock space vacuum states for each independent field mode. So there is no entanglement between the field modes at different momenta. However in interacting theories, the full

vacuum state can be interpreted as a superposition of the Fock basis states which means that the modes of different momenta are entangled. States in interacting gauge field theories encode information about these excitations. Each state has information about the number of created particles from each type of field, momentum, spin, etc. Therefore we can describe a state in terms of a linear combination of the possibilities corresponding to 1-particle, 2-particle,..., N-particle wavefunctions such that N tends to infinity. The computation of a transition amplitude provides only a part of a quantum state.

*Remark* 2.2. Perturbation theory concerns intermediate virtual states which have different types than the initial and final states. These types of states have uncertain energy scale, but since they are available at only very short time, they can have the same energy as the initial and final states. Therefore, without violating the energy conservation, these types of states, generated by virtual particles, can be considered with some probabilities.

Green's functions are computed in terms of integration by parts on (10) where a large number of terms are generated. Following Definition 1.1 together with Feynman rules of the physical theory, we associate Feynman diagrams to these terms to formulate a combinatorial version of Green's functions. However the computation of the self-energy of the interaction of a particle generates increasingly number of virtual particles at some energy scales where perturbation theory fails. Feynman rules in space configuration associate some propagators to vertices and edges in  $\Gamma$ . These rules label the space-time points of all vertices in  $\Gamma$  and then integrate over them. Therefore we have integrals over all possible space-time positions of all vertices. Fourier transform is applied to interpret Feynman rules in momentum configuration where these rules associate some propagators and momenta information to all internal edges with respect to the momentum conservation at each vertex.

**Definition 2.3.** Consider a given gauge field theory  $\Phi$  with the corresponding renormalization Hopf algebra  $H_{\text{FG}}(\Phi)$ .

- Any 1PI primitive Feynman diagram  $\gamma$  identifies a basic qft-state  $s_{\gamma}$ . The number  $n_{\gamma} := |\gamma^{[1]}|$  of edges in  $\gamma$  presents the number of particles which occupy the basic qft-state  $s_{\gamma}$ .
- The subset  $\gamma_{int}^{[1]}$  encodes the intermediate qft-states corresponding to  $\gamma$ .
- Let  $\Gamma$  be a finite connected Feynman diagram built by primitive components  $\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_s$ . The notation  $[s_{\gamma_1}^{n_{\gamma_1}}; ...; s_{\gamma_s}^{n_{\gamma_s}}]$  presents a general qft-state in which each basic qft-state  $s_{\gamma_i}$  is occupied by  $n_{\gamma_i}$  particles.
- For any 1PI primitive Feynman diagram  $\gamma$ , the grafting operator  $B_{\gamma}^+$  adds a basic qft-state to any general qft-state.
- *Remark* 2.4. The vacuum in  $\Phi$  is a homogeneous system of virtual particles such that its associated intermediate qft-states are invariant

with respect to the transformations of the invariance group. Without violating the conservation law of energy, particles with negative energy are created and annihilated in the vacuum.

- Each general qft-state associated with a finite Feynman diagram can be occupied by a finite number of particles.
- A large Feynman diagram  $X_{\text{DSE}}$  as the solution of a combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation DSE under a strong running coupling constant  $\lambda g \geq 1$  (given by Definition 1.7 and Remark 1.8) is built in terms of an infinite number of applying the grafting operators. Therefore the general qft-state associated with  $X_{\text{DSE}}$  can be occupied with an infinite number of particles.

Consider a gauge field theory  $\Phi$  and the interval  $M \subseteq [0, \infty)$  as the Lebesgue measure space.

- **Definition 2.5.** Feynman diagrams  $\Gamma_1, \Gamma_2$  are called weakly isomorphic (or weakly equivalent) iff  $[W_{\Gamma_1}]_{\approx} = [W_{\Gamma_2}]_{\approx}$ . In other words,  $\Gamma_1 \approx \Gamma_2$  iff theres exists a symmetric bounded Lebesgue measurable graph function  $W: M \times M \to \mathbb{R}$  and Lebesgue measure preserving transformations  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  on M such that  $W^{\rho_1} = W_{\Gamma_1}$  and  $W^{\rho_2} = W_{\Gamma_2}$  almost everywhere with respect to the Lebesgue measure. This means that  $W^{\rho_1} \in [W_{\Gamma_1}]_{\approx}$  and  $W^{\rho_2} \in [W_{\Gamma_2}]_{\approx}$ .
  - Thanks to the cut-distance topology on the space of graphons ([12]), define a distance between Feynman diagrams. For each  $\Gamma_1, \Gamma_2 \in H_{FG}(\Phi)$ , define

$$d_{\rm cut}(\Gamma_1,\Gamma_2) := d_{\rm cut}([W_{\Gamma_1}]_\approx, [W_{\Gamma_2}]_\approx) = \inf_{\rho,\psi} \sup_{A,B \subsetneq M} \left| \int_{A \times B} \left( W_{\Gamma_1}^{\rho}(x,y) - W_{\Gamma_2}^{\psi}(x,y) \right) dx dy \right|$$

such that the infimum is over all Lebesgue measure preserving transformations  $\rho, \psi$  on M and the supremum is over all Lebesgue measurable subsets A, B in the interval M.

- Set  $\mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon}}^{\Phi,M}([a,b])$  as the cut-distance topological space of (stretched) Feynman graphons on the ground measure space M with values in  $[a,b] \subset \mathbb{R}$  corresponding to Feynman diagrams of the physical theory.
- Remark 2.6.  $\mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon}}^{\Phi,[0,1]}([0,1])$  is a compact Hausdorff metrizable topological space while  $\mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon}}^{\Phi,[0,\infty)}([a,b])$  is a complete Hausdorff metrizable topological space. We use the notations  $\mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon},\approx}^{\Phi,[0,1]}([0,1])$  and  $\mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon},\approx}^{\Phi,[0,\infty)}([a,b])$  for the corresponding metric spaces of unlabeled (stretched) Feynman graphon classes.
  - Feynman diagrams  $\Gamma_1, \Gamma_2$  are weakly isomorphic iff  $d_{\text{cut}}(\Gamma_1, \Gamma_2) = 0$ .
  - Up to the weakly isomorphic equivalence relation, a sequence  $\{\Gamma_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ of Feynman diagrams is called convergent, if the sequence  $\{\frac{[W_{\Gamma_n}]_{\approx}}{||[W_{\Gamma_n}]_{\approx}||_{cut}}\}_{n\geq 1}$ converges to a non-zero Feynman graphon with respect to the metric

(11) such that for each  $n \ge 1$ ,

(12) 
$$||[W_{\Gamma_n}]_{\approx}||_{\text{cut}} := \sup_{A,B \subsetneq M} \left| \int_{A \times B} W_{\Gamma_n}(x,y) dx dy \right| .$$

• The renormalization Hopf algebra can be topologically completed with respect to the metric (11). The resulting enriched space is presented by  $H_{\rm FG}^{\rm cut}(\Phi)$ .

 $[28,\,29,\,31,\,34]$ 

**Definition 2.7.** The homomorphism density of a connected 1PI Feynman diagram  $\Gamma \in H_{\text{FG}}$  with some nested loops but without overlapping loops with respect to any Feynman graphon  $W_X$  in  $\mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon}}^{\Phi,[0,1]}([0,1])$  is given by (13)

$$t(\Gamma, W_X) = \int_{[0,1]^{|t_{\Gamma}|}} \prod_{e_{kl} \in E(t_{\Gamma})} W_X(x_k, x_l) \prod_{e_{kl} \notin E(t_{\Gamma})} \left( 1 - W_X(x_k, x_l) \right) \prod_{k=1}^{|t_{\Gamma}|} dx_k ,$$

such that  $t_{\Gamma}$  is a decorated non-planar rooted tree.

If  $\Gamma$  has overlapping sub-divergences, then its tree representation  $t_{\Gamma}$  is a linear combination of decorated non-planar rooted trees. Then we have (14)

$$t(\Gamma, W_X) = \prod_{i=1}^n \int_{[0,1]^{|s_i|}} \prod_{e_{kl} \in E(s_i)} W_X(x_k, x_l) \prod_{e_{kl} \notin E(s_i)} \left( 1 - W_X(x_k, x_l) \right) \prod_{k=1}^{|s_i|} dx_k$$

such that  $t_{\Gamma} = s_1 + \ldots + s_n$ .

**Corollary 2.8.** Consider a sequence  $\{W_{\Gamma_n}\}_{n\geq 1}$  and  $W_X, W_Y$  of Feynman graphons in  $\mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon},\approx}^{\Phi,[0,1]}([0,1])$ . Let  $\Gamma \in H_{\text{FG}}(\Phi)$  be any connected 1PI Feynman diagram with some nested loops but without overlapping loops.

- $\{W_{\Gamma_n}\}_{n\geq 1}$  is a Cauchy sequence with respect to the cut-distance metric (11) iff the sequence  $\{t(\Gamma, W_{\Gamma_n})\}_{n\geq 1}$  of homomorphism densities is convergent.
- $\{W_{\Gamma_n}\}_{n\geq 1}$  converges to  $W_X$  with respect to the cut-distance topology iff  $\{t(\Gamma, W_{\Gamma_n})\}_{n\geq 1}$  converges to  $t(\Gamma, W_X)$ .
- $W_X, W_Y$  are weakly isomorphic iff  $t(\Gamma, W_X) = t(\Gamma, W_Y)$ .

*Proof.* Thanks to Definitions 1.4, 2.5 and 2.7 and Remark 1.5, it is a direct result of Counting Lemma for Graphs [6].  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 2.9.** Consider a gauge field theory  $\Phi$  with the renormalization Hopf algebra  $H_{FG}(\Phi)$ . There exists the Fisher information metric on any linear subspace of intermediate and general states in  $\Phi$  generated by a finite number of qft-states.

*Proof.* Thanks to Definition 2.3 and Remark 2.4, let  $S_{\Phi,n}$  be a finite dimensional vector space of states in  $\Phi$  generated by n number of qft-states corresponding to finite connected Feynman diagrams  $\Gamma_1, ..., \Gamma_n$ . Let for each

 $1 \leq i \leq n, \Gamma_i$  is built in terms of 1PI primitive components  $\gamma_{i_1}, ..., \gamma_{i_k}$ . Up to the weakly isomorphism relation on the space of Feynman diagrams (i.e. Remark 2.6), define a distribution

(15) 
$$h(x; W_{\Gamma_1}, ..., W_{\Gamma_n}) := \sum_{i=1}^n t(\Gamma_i^{\lceil x \rceil}, \bigoplus_{s=1}^n W_{\Gamma_s^{\lceil x \rceil}}) W_{\Gamma_i}$$

such that

- $x \in J \subset [1,\infty)$  is a random variable chosen from a compact interval J,
- $x \mapsto \lceil x \rceil$  is the ceiling function,
- For each  $1 \leq i \leq n$ ,  $\Gamma_i^{\lceil x \rceil}$  is a Feynman subdiagram of  $\Gamma_i$  generated by  $\gamma_{i_1}, ..., \gamma_{i_{\lceil x \rceil}}$  for  $\lceil x \rceil \leq k$ . For  $\lceil x \rceil > k$ , consider the empty graph I as  $\gamma_{i[x]}$ ,
- $W_{\Gamma_i}$  is the normalized stretched Feynman graphon of  $\Gamma_i$  and  $W_{\Gamma_i}$ is the normalized stretched Feynman graphon of the Feynman subdiagram  $\Gamma_s^{\lceil x \rceil}$  of  $\Gamma_s$ .

The Gibbs measure of the distribution (15) is given by

(16) 
$$\mathbf{P}(x; W_{\Gamma_1}, ..., W_{\Gamma_n}) = \frac{1}{Z[\mathfrak{j}]} \exp\left(-\mathfrak{j}h(x; W_{\Gamma_1}, ..., W_{\Gamma_n})\right)$$

such that

(17) 
$$Z[\mathfrak{j}] = \int \exp\left(iS(\phi) + i\int \mathfrak{j}(x)\phi(x)d^Dx\right)\mathcal{D}[\phi]$$

is the partition function with respect to the source field j in  $\Phi$ . Up to the weakly isomorphism relation on the space of Feynman diagrams (i.e. Remark 2.6), set  $(W_{\Gamma_1}, W_{\Gamma_2}, ..., W_{\Gamma_n})$  as the coordinate system on  $S_{\Phi,n}$  and define the metric structure with respect to the probability distribution  $\mathbf{P}$  on  $S_{\Phi,n}$  given by

$$g_{st}(W_{\Gamma_1},...,W_{\Gamma_n}) := \int_J \frac{\partial \log \mathbf{P}(x;W_{\Gamma_1},...,W_{\Gamma_n})}{\partial W_{\Gamma_s}} \frac{\partial \log \mathbf{P}(x;W_{\Gamma_1},...,W_{\Gamma_n})}{\partial W_{\Gamma_t}} \mathbf{P}(x;W_{\Gamma_1},...,W_{\Gamma_n}) dx$$

such that  $1 \leq s, t \leq n$ . This is the Fisher information metric on the subspace  $S_{\Phi,n}$  of states in  $\Phi$  generated by qft-states  $\Gamma_1, ..., \Gamma_n$ . 

## 2.2. Correlations via combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations.

In this part, we introduce a dictionary between our platform and Reeh-Schlieder theorem. The Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  of states and its open subspaces are replaced with the topological renormalization Hopf algebra  $H_{\rm FG}^{\rm cut}(\Phi)$  and topological Hopf subalgebras  $H_{\text{DSE}}^{\text{cut}}$  corresponding to quantum motions. Local operators in  $B(\mathcal{H})$ , which provide approximations, are replaced with the grafting operators, as Hochschild one-cocycle operators, and their compositions.

**Theorem 2.10.** Consider a combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger DSE given by Definition 1.7 with the solution  $X_{DSE}$ .

• For each  $m \geq 1$ , a stretched Feynman graphon of the partial sum  $Y_m := \sum_{j=0}^m (\lambda g)^j X_j$  is a bounded symmetric Lebesgue measurable function  $\tilde{W}_{Y_m} \in S_{\text{graphon}}^{\Phi,[0,\infty)}([a,b])$  defined on  $\bigsqcup_{j=1}^m I_j \times \bigsqcup_{j=1}^m I_j$  such that for  $l \neq k, I_l \cap I_k = \emptyset$  and  $m(I_j) = (\lambda g)^j$ . Lebesgue measure preserving transformations on  $[0,\infty)$  are applied to project the partition  $\{I_j\}_{j=1}^m$  to the partition  $\{\tilde{I}_j\}_{j=1}^m \subseteq [0,1)$  and define the normalized direct sum

(19) 
$$W_{Y_m} = \frac{\tilde{W}_{X_1} + \dots + \tilde{W}_{X_m}}{||\tilde{W}_{X_1} + \dots + \tilde{W}_{X_m}||_{\text{cut}}}$$

of stretched Feynman graphons of the components X<sub>j</sub>. For each 1 ≤ j ≤ m, W̃<sub>X<sub>j</sub></sub> : Ĩ<sub>j</sub> × Ĩ<sub>j</sub> → ℝ, as a stretched version of the canonical Feynman graphon W<sub>X<sub>j</sub></sub>, is of weight m(Ĩ<sub>j</sub>). For each m ≥ 1, [W<sub>Y<sub>m</sub></sub>]<sub>≈</sub> ∈ S<sup>Φ,[0,1)</sup><sub>graphon,≈</sub>([0, 1]).
For each m, W<sub>Y<sub>m</sub></sub> determines a random graph R(Y<sub>m</sub>) in [0, 1] with

- For each m,  $W_{Y_m}$  determines a random graph  $R(Y_m)$  in [0,1] with  $|t_{Y_m}|$  number of vertices such that with the probability  $W_{Y_m}(x_i, x_j)$ , there exists an edge between  $x_i, x_j$  in  $R(Y_m)$ . The sequence  $\{R(Y_m)\}_{m\geq 1}$  of random graphs is cut-distance convergent to the normalized stretched Feynman graphon  $W_{\text{DSE}} \in \mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon}}^{\Phi,[0,1)}([0,1])$  when m tends to infinity.
- The sequence  $\{Y_m\}_{m\geq 1}$  of partial sums is cut-distance convergent to  $X_{\text{DSE}}$ .

## [28, 29, 34]

Up to the weakly isomorphic relation,  $[W_{\text{DSE}}]_{\approx}$  is the unique unlabeled Feynman graphon class associated with the large Feynman diagram  $X_{\text{DSE}}$ . Consider  $R(X_{\text{DSE}})$  as an infinite random graph in [0, 1] by selecting randomly infinite countable nodes  $\{x_n\}_{n\geq 1}$  from [0, 1] such that with the probability  $W_{\text{DSE}}(x_i, x_j)$ , there exists an edge between  $x_i, x_j$ . Non-perturbative solutions of the equation DSE under strong running coupling constants can be represented by  $R(X_{\text{DSE}})$ . These infinite random graphs, homomorphism densities of Feynman graphons and the topological enrichment of the renormalization Hopf algebra provided some new combinatorial and analytic tools for the study of quantum motions where  $H_{\text{FG}}^{\text{cut}}(\Phi)$  is rich enough to encode solutions of quantum motions in a strongly coupled gauge field theory  $\Phi$ . [25, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31]

Consider a combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation DSE generated by the family  $\{\gamma_n\}_{n\geq 1}$  of (1PI) primitive Feynman diagrams with the solution  $X_{\text{DSE}}$  and the sequence  $\{Y_m\}_{m\geq 1}$  of its partial sums in a gauge filed theory  $\Phi$ .

**Theorem 2.11.** Following Definition 2.3, each general qft-state corresponding to DSE can be approximated by grafting operators.

Proof. Consider  $H_{\text{DSE}}^{\text{cut}}$  as the topological algebra for cut-distance regions of Feynman diagrams which contribute to the sequence  $\{Y_m\}_{m\geq 1}$  of partial sums. For each (1PI) primitive Feynman diagram  $\gamma_{i_l} \in H_{\text{DSE}}$ , the grafting operator  $B_{\gamma_{i_l}}^+: H_{\text{DSE}}^{\text{cut}} \to H_{\text{DSE}}^{\text{cut}}$  is a bounded continuous operator such that its action on the empty graph I generates general qft-states of the form  $B_{\gamma_{i_l}}^+ B_{\gamma_{i_{l-1}}}^+ \dots B_{\gamma_{i_1}}^+$  (I). Each Feynman diagram  $\Gamma$  can be presented by  $\Gamma = B_{\gamma,G}^+(\Gamma')$  for some primitive Feynman diagram  $\gamma$  where  $\Gamma'$  is a forest of nested sub-divergences of  $\Gamma$  such that after shrinking all of them to a point in  $\Gamma$ ,  $\gamma$  remains [17]. The symbol G encodes information about where to insert these sub-divergences in  $\gamma$  to rebuild  $\Gamma$ . Therefore all general qft-states can be presented as linear combinations of the multiple times applications of the grafting operators.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 2.12.** Each equation DSE determines non-zero correlations between separated space-like regions.

*Proof.* Relation 3 shows the non-commutativity of the grafting operators with respect to each other. In other words,  $B_{\gamma_{i_l}}^+ B_{\gamma_{i_{l-1}}}^+ \dots B_{\gamma_{i_1}}^+ (\mathbb{I}) \neq B_{\gamma_{i_1}}^+ B_{\gamma_{i_2}}^+ \dots B_{\gamma_{i_l}}^+ (\mathbb{I})$ . For two different finite families  $\{\gamma_{i_1}, \dots, \gamma_{i_l}\}$  and  $\{\gamma_{j_1}, \dots, \gamma_{j_k}\}$  of primitive (1PI) Feynman diagrams from  $\{\gamma_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ , consider operators

(20) 
$$B_{\gamma_{i_l}}^+ B_{\gamma_{i_2}}^+ \dots B_{\gamma_{i_1}}^+ (\mathbb{I}) , \ B_{\gamma_{j_k}}^+ B_{\gamma_{j_2}}^+ \dots B_{\gamma_{j_1}}^+ (\mathbb{I})$$

Definition 2.5 and Remark 1.8 show that (21)

$$d_{\rm cut}\left(B^+_{\gamma_{i_l}}B^+_{\gamma_{i_2}}...B^+_{\gamma_{i_1}}(\mathbb{I}), B^+_{\gamma_{j_k}}B^+_{\gamma_{j_2}}...B^+_{\gamma_{j_1}}(\mathbb{I})\right) \neq 0 , \ d_{\rm cut}(X_i, X_j) \neq 0 , \ \forall i \neq j .$$

Thanks to Definition 2.3, the operators (20) are supported in two separated space-like regions  $U_{i_1 \to i_l}$  and  $U_{j_1 \to j_k}$  at different qft-states.

There exist some orders  $N_l, N_k$  such that

$$Y_s \cap B^+_{\gamma_{i_l}} B^+_{\gamma_{i_2}} \dots B^+_{\gamma_{i_1}} (\mathbb{I}) \neq \emptyset , \ s \ge N_l$$

(22) 
$$Y_n \cap B^+_{\gamma_{j_k}} B^+_{\gamma_{j_2}} \dots B^+_{\gamma_{j_1}} (\mathbb{I}) \neq \emptyset , \ n \ge N_k .$$

In addition, thanks to Theorem 2.10, for each  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists an order  $N_{\epsilon}$  such that for each  $t \ge N_{\epsilon}$ ,

(23) 
$$d_{\rm cut}(Y_t, X_{\rm DSE}) < \epsilon \; .$$

Set  $N_{l,k,\epsilon} := \text{Max}\{N_l, N_k, N_\epsilon\}$ . For each  $m \ge N_{l,k,\epsilon}$ , the relations (22) and (23) are valid. This means that the sequence  $\{Y_m\}_{m\ge N_{l,k,\epsilon}}$  of partial sums of  $X_{\text{DSE}}$  provide non-zero correlations between  $U_{i_1\to i_l}$  and  $U_{j_1\to j_k}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 2.13.** There exist non-zero correlations between separated cutdistance regions in  $H_{\rm FG}^{\rm cut}(\Phi)$ . *Proof.* Let U, V be separated regions in  $H^{\text{cut}}_{\text{FG}}(\Phi)$ . Let  $\text{Prim}(H_{\text{FG}}(\Phi))$  be the collection of primitive Feynman diagrams in  $\Phi$ , and

(24) 
$$U \cap \operatorname{Prim}(H_{\mathrm{FG}}(\Phi)) = \{\gamma_{s_U}\}_s , \ V \cap \operatorname{Prim}(H_{\mathrm{FG}}(\Phi)) = \{\gamma_{t_V}\}_t .$$

Thanks to Definition 1.7, build combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations  $DSE_U$  defined in terms of the family  $\{B^+_{\gamma_{s_{II}}}\}_s$  and  $DSE_V$  defined in terms of the family  $\{B_{\gamma_{t_{v}}}^+\}_t$ . Consider  $X_{\text{DSE}_{v}}$  and  $X_{\text{DSE}_{v}}$  as the solutions of these equations. Thanks to Definition 2.5 and Theorem 2.10, define a distance function between these equations given by

(25) 
$$d_{\text{cut}}(\text{DSE}_{\text{U}}, \text{DSE}_{\text{V}}) = \lim_{m \to \infty} d_{\text{cut}}(Y_m^{\text{U}}, Y_m^{\text{V}}) > 0 ,$$

such that  $Y_m^{\text{U}}, Y_m^{\text{V}}$  are partial sums of  $X_{\text{DSE}_{\text{U}}}$  and  $X_{\text{DSE}_{\text{V}}}$ . Now build a new combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation  $\text{DSE}_{\text{UV}}$  generated by the collection  $\{\gamma_{s_U}\}_s \cup \{\gamma_{t_V}\}_t$  of primitive Feynman diagrams with the solution  $X_{\text{DSE}_{\text{UV}}}$ . Thanks to the metric (25), for any cut-distance neighborhood  $A_{\rm UV}$  of  $X_{\rm DSE_{\rm UV}}$ , there exist orders  $N_U, N_V$  such that for any  $m \geq N_{UV} := \operatorname{Max} \{N_U, N_V\},\$ 

(26) 
$$\{Y_m^{\mathrm{U}}\}_{m \ge N_{UV}} \cap A_{\mathrm{UV}} \neq \emptyset , \ \{Y_m^{\mathrm{V}}\}_{m \ge N_{UV}} \cap A_{\mathrm{UV}} \neq \emptyset .$$

Therefore different graphs  $X_{\text{DSE}_{\text{U}}}$  and  $X_{\text{DSE}_{\text{V}}}$  which belong to separated regions in  $H_{\rm FG}^{\rm cut}(\Phi)$  at different qf-states are correlated via equations of type  $DSE_{UV}$ .  $\square$ 

2.3. A statistical manifold associated with the space of 1PI Green's functions. Homomorphism densities of Feynman graphons in  $\mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon}}^{\Phi,[0,1]}([0,1])$ are considered to obtain some geometric tools for the analytic study of quantum motions and their solution spaces in a gauge field theory  $\Phi$  [28, 29]. Thanks to a generalization of Stone–Weierstrass theorem, under the topology of uniform convergence, the linear span of homomorphism densities is

dense in the space  $\mathcal{C}\left(\mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon},\approx}^{\Phi,[0,1]}([0,1]), d_{\text{cut}}\right)$  of continuous functionals on  ${\cal S}^{\Phi,[0,1]}$ 

 $\Psi_{[0,1]}^{\Psi_{[0,1]}}$  ([0,1]). In this part, thanks to Theorem 2.10, we apply homomorphism densities of Feynman graphons to determine the Fisher information metric on the space of 1PI Green's functions in  $\Phi$ .

1PI Green's functions  $\Gamma^{e_i}, \Gamma^{v_j}$  in  $\Phi$  are characterized in terms of formal expansions of Feynman diagrams with residues  $e_1, ..., e_m$  as all possible types of fermions and bosons, and  $v_1, ..., v_n$  as all possible types of interactions in the physical theory. Under a combinatorial setting, we have (27)

$$\Gamma^{r}(\lambda) = \mathbb{I} \pm \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (\lambda g)^{k} \sum_{\Gamma, \operatorname{res}(\Gamma) = r, |\Gamma| = k, |\Gamma| = ug} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Sym}(\Gamma)} B_{\Gamma}^{+}(X_{\Gamma}) , \ X_{\Gamma} = \prod_{e \in \Gamma_{\operatorname{int}}^{[1]}} \prod_{v \in \Gamma^{[0]}} \Gamma^{v} / \Gamma^{e}$$

such that  $r \in \mathcal{R}_{\Phi} := \{e_1, ..., e_m, v_1, ..., v_n\}$  [15, 38]. Fixed point equations of these 1PI Green's functions are combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations.

Up to the weakly isomorphic relation on the space of Feynman diagrams (given by Definition 2.5), the linear span of

(28) 
$$\left\{ \text{DSE}_{e_i}(\lambda g) , \text{DSE}_{v_j}(\lambda g) , e_i, v_j \in \mathcal{R}_{\Phi} , 0 < \lambda \le 1 \right\}$$

encodes quantum motions in the physical theory under different running coupling constants.

**Definition 2.14.** Consider combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations DSE<sub>1</sub>, DSE<sub>2</sub> with the solutions  $X_{\text{DSE}_1}, X_{\text{DSE}_2}$  and corresponding sequences of partial sums  $\{Y_m^{(1)}\}_{m\geq 1}$  and  $\{Y_m^{(2)}\}_{m\geq 1}$ . For any  $m \geq 1$  and  $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$ , the homomorphism density of  $Y_m^{(i)}$  with respect to the normalized stretched Feynman graphon  $W_{\text{DSE}_j} \in \mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon}}^{\Phi,[0,1)}([0,1])$  is given by (29)

$$t(Y_m^{(i)}, W_{\text{DSE}_j}) = \int_{[0,1]^{|t_{Y_m^{(i)}}|}} \prod_{e_{kl} \in E(t_{Y_m^{(i)}})} W_{\text{DSE}_j}(x_k, x_l) \prod_{e_{kl} \notin E(t_{Y_m^{(i)}})} \left(1 - W_{\text{DSE}_j}(x_k, x_l)\right) \prod_{k=1}^{|t_{Y_m^{(i)}}|} dx_k ,$$

such that  $t_{Y_m^{(i)}}$  is the forest representation of  $Y_m^{(i)}$  in terms of decorated non-planar rooted trees.

*Remark* 2.15. • Thanks to Proposition 2 in [29], the homomorphism density  $t(X_{DSE_i}, W_{DSE_j})$  is defined in terms of the inverse limit

(30) 
$$t(X_{\text{DSE}_i}, W_{\text{DSE}_j}) = \lim_{\leftarrow_m} t(Y_m^{(i)}, W_{\text{DSE}_j})$$

of the homomorphism densities of the partial sums  $Y_m^{(i)}$ .

• Equations DSE<sub>1</sub> and DSE<sub>2</sub> are weakly isomorphic (i.e.  $d_{\text{cut}}(X_{\text{DSE}_1}, X_{\text{DSE}_2}) = 0$ ) iff for any connected 1PI Feynman diagram  $\Gamma \in H_{\text{FG}}(\Phi)$  with some nested loops but without overlapping loops,

(31) 
$$t(\Gamma, W_{\text{DSE}_1}) = t(\Gamma, W_{\text{DSE}_2})$$

**Theorem 2.16.** Homomorphism densities of Feynman graphons associate a statistical manifold to the gauge field theory  $\Phi$ .

Proof. It is possible to replace combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations with their corresponding 1PI Green's functions. For any  $r \in \mathcal{R}_{\Phi}$  and Feynman diagram  $\Gamma$ , the homomorphism density of  $\Gamma$  with respect to  $W_{\Gamma^{r}(\lambda)} \in \mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon}}^{\Phi,[0,1)}([0,1])$  is given by (32)

$$t(\Gamma, W_{\Gamma^{r}(\lambda)}) = \int_{[0,1)^{|t_{\Gamma}|}} \prod_{e_{kl} \in E(t_{\Gamma})} W_{\Gamma^{r}(\lambda)}(x_{k}, x_{l}) \prod_{e_{kl} \notin E(t_{\Gamma})} \left( 1 - W_{\Gamma^{r}(\lambda)}(x_{k}, x_{l}) \right) \prod_{k=1}^{|t_{\Gamma}|} dx_{k} ,$$

such that  $t_{\Gamma}$  is the rooted tree representation of  $\Gamma$ .  $t(\Gamma, W_{\Gamma^{r}(\lambda)})$  determines the probability of constructing a random graph  $R(\Gamma)$  associated with  $\Gamma$  via

 $W_{\Gamma^r(\lambda)}$ . In other words,  $t(-, W_{\Gamma^r(\lambda)})$  can be applied to define a probability distribution on the space of Feynman diagrams in  $\Phi$ .

Consider 1PI Green's functions in  $\Phi$  (given by Formula (27)) under the bare coupling constant g to define a statistical manifold with coordinates

(33) 
$$[W_{\Gamma^r}] := (W_{\Gamma^{e_1}(1)}, ..., W_{\Gamma^{e_m}(1)}, W_{\Gamma^{v_1}(1)}, ..., W_{\Gamma^{v_n}(1)}), \ r \in \mathcal{R}_{\Phi}$$

up to the weakly isomorphic relation on the space of Feynman diagrams and combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations (i.e. Remarks 2.6 and 2.15). Thanks to the homomorphism density (32), define a distribution  $p((\lambda, x), [W_{\Gamma^r}])$ in terms of two random variables on the coordinates  $[W_{\Gamma^r}]$ . The one random variable is applied to regularize the bare coupling constant and the other random variable extracts finite partial sums of 1PI Green's functions. This function is given by

(34) 
$$p((\lambda, x), [W_{\Gamma^r}]) := \sum_{r \in \mathcal{R}_{\Phi}} t(\Gamma^{r, \lceil x \rceil}(\lambda), \bigoplus_{s \in \mathcal{R}_{\Phi}} W_{\Gamma^{s, \lceil x \rceil}(\lambda)}) W_{\Gamma^r(1)}$$

- $(\lambda, x) \in I \times J \subset [0, \infty) \times [1, \infty)$  is a random pair such that I, J are compact intervals.
- $x \mapsto [x]$  is the ceiling function.
- For each  $r \in \mathcal{R}_{\Phi}$  and  $\lceil x \rceil$  with  $x \in J$ ,  $\Gamma^{r,\lceil x \rceil}(\lambda)$  is a partial expansion of 1PI Green's function  $\Gamma^{r}(\lambda)$  which contains Feynman diagrams with the loop numbers at most  $\lceil x \rceil$ . It is given by

(35) 
$$\Gamma^{r,\lceil x\rceil}(\lambda) = \mathbb{I} \pm \sum_{k=1}^{|x|} (\lambda g)^k \sum_{\Gamma, \operatorname{res}(\Gamma) = r, |\Gamma| = k, |\Gamma| = u_g = 1} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Sym}(\Gamma)} B_{\Gamma}^+(X_{\Gamma}) \ .$$

•  $\bigoplus_{s \in \mathcal{R}_{\Phi}} W_{\Gamma^{s,\lceil x \rceil}(\lambda)}$  is a normalized stretched Feynman graphon in  $\mathcal{S}_{\text{graphon}}^{\Phi,[0,1)}([0,1])$ which is a finite direct sum of normalized stretched Feynman graphons  $W_{\Gamma^{s,\lceil x \rceil}(\lambda)}$  associated with partial expansions  $\Gamma^{s,\lceil x \rceil}(\lambda)$ .

The Gibbs measure of the distribution (34) is given by

(36) 
$$\mathbf{P}((\lambda, x), [W_{\Gamma^r}]) = \frac{1}{Z[\mathfrak{j}]} \exp\left(-\mathfrak{j}p((\lambda, x), [W_{\Gamma^r}])\right)$$

such that Z[j] is the partition function with respect to the source field j in  $\Phi$ . Up to the weakly isomorphic relation on the space of Feynman diagrams and combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations (i.e. Remarks 2.6 and 2.15), the metric structure with respect to the probability distribution **P** is given by (37)

$$g_{st}([W_{\Gamma^r}]) := \int_{I \times J} \frac{\partial \log \mathbf{P}((\lambda, x), [W_{\Gamma^r}])}{\partial W_{\Gamma^s(1)}} \frac{\partial \log \mathbf{P}((\lambda, x), [W_{\Gamma^r}])}{\partial W_{\Gamma^t(1)}} \mathbf{P}((\lambda, x), [W_{\Gamma^r}]) \, d\lambda dx$$

*Remark* 2.17. • The metric (37) is the Fisher information metric on the space of 1PI Green's functions of  $\Phi$ .

• Thanks to Proposition 2 in [29], the homomorphism density  $t(\Gamma^r(\lambda), \bigoplus_{s \in \mathcal{R}_{\bullet}} W_{\Gamma^s(\lambda)})$ , for each  $r \in \mathcal{R}_{\Phi}$ , is defined in terms of the inverse limit

(38) 
$$t(\Gamma^{r}(\lambda), \oplus_{s \in \mathcal{R}_{\Phi}} W_{\Gamma^{s}(\lambda)}) = \lim_{\leftarrow m} t(\Gamma^{r,m}(\lambda), \oplus_{s \in \mathcal{R}_{\Phi}} W_{\Gamma^{s}(\lambda)})$$

of the homomorphism densities of the partial expansions  $\Gamma^{r,m}(\lambda)$ .

### 3. A LATTICE MODEL FOR QUANTUM ENTANGLEMENT

According to Definition 2.3, a finite connected Feynman diagram  $\Gamma$  can be interpreted as a general qft-state built by a composition of a finite number of basic qft-states associated with 1PI primitive components of  $\Gamma$ . These basic qft-states are entangled because of their roles in the structure of  $\Gamma$ . In addition,  $B^+_{\gamma}(\Gamma)$  generates new Feynman diagrams which are entangled to  $\Gamma$ . Therefore, thanks to the combinatorial reformulation of quantum motions (i.e. Definition 1.7), each combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation DSE determines an infinite number of entangled general qft-states via primitive Feynman diagrams  $\gamma \in \{\gamma_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ . They are qft-states occupied by  $X_{\text{DSE}}$  or its partial sums.

**Theorem 3.1.** Quantum entanglement between a particle p at a basic qftstate  $\gamma^p$  and virtual particles at intermediate qft-states originated from  $\gamma^p$ in an interacting gauge field theory  $\Phi$  can be encoded by a lattice of Hopf sub-subalgebras derived from solutions of quantum motions at qft-states originated from  $\gamma^p$ .

Proof. Thanks to Definition 2.3, Theorems 2.11, 2.12 and Corollary 2.13, consider a combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation  $DSE_p$  defined by a family  $\{\gamma_n\}_{n\geq 1}$  of 1PI primitive Feynman diagrams such that  $\gamma^p \in \{\gamma_n\}_{n\geq 1}$  in terms of Definition 1.7. The grafting operator  $B_{\gamma p}^+$  generates some general qft-states occupied by some virtual particles which interact with p.

We build a tower of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations originated from the initial equation  $DSE_p$ . For each  $j \ge 1$ , define a new collection  $\{\Gamma_n^{(j)}\}_{n>1}$  of graphs given by

(39) 
$$\Gamma_n^{(j)} := \Gamma_1^{(j-1)} + \dots + \Gamma_n^{(j-1)}$$

such that  $\Gamma_n^{(0)} = \gamma_n$  for each  $n \ge 1$ . Thanks to the Lie algebra of primitive graphs with respect to the renormalization coproduct, the linear combination of a finite number of primitive graphs is primitive.

- For each j ≥ 1 and n ≥ 1, B<sup>+</sup><sub>Γ<sup>(j)</sup><sub>n</sub></sub> is Hochschild one-cocycle.
  The operator B<sup>+</sup><sub>Γ<sup>(j)</sup><sub>n</sub></sub> inserts each Γ into Γ<sup>(j-1)</sup><sub>1</sub>+...+Γ<sup>(j-1)</sup><sub>n</sub> with respect to types of external edges in  $\Gamma$  and types of vertices in  $\Gamma_1^{(j-1)}+\ldots+$  $\Gamma_n^{(j-1)}$ .
- For each j,  $B^+_{\Gamma^{(j)}}(\Gamma)$  contains  $B^+_{\Gamma^{(j-1)}}(\Gamma)$  as a subgraph.

For each  $j \geq 1$ , define a new combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation  $\text{DSE}_p^{(j)} := \langle \{B_{\Gamma^{(j)}}^+\}_{n\geq 1} \rangle$  with the corresponding Hopf subalgebra  $H_{\text{DSE}_n^{(j)}}$ .

- For each  $j \ge 1$ , there exists an injective Hopf algebra homomorphism from  $H_{\text{DSE}_n^{(j)}}$  to  $H_{\text{DSE}_n^{(j+1)}}$ .
- There exists the following increasing chain of Hopf subalgebras

(40) 
$$H_{\text{DSE}_p} \le H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(1)}} \le H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(2)}} \le \dots \le H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}} \le \dots$$

• For each  $n \geq 1$ , define  $H(X_1^j, ..., X_n^j)$  as the commutative graded Hopf sub-subalgebra of  $H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}}$  free generated algebraically by nelements  $X_1^j, ..., X_n^j$  of the components of the solution of the equation  $\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}$ .

Consider  $\mathcal{C}_p$  as the collection of all Hopf subalgebras  $H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}}$  and their Hopf sub-subalgebras  $H(X_1^j, ..., X_n^j)$  generated by the above tower of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations. Define a binary relation  $\preccurlyeq$  on  $\mathcal{C}_p$  given by

(41) 
$$H_1 \preccurlyeq H_2 \iff \exists \ H_{i_1}, ..., H_{i_r} \in \mathcal{C}_p$$

such that there exist injective Hopf algebra homomorphisms

$$(42) H_1 \to H_{i_1} \to H_{i_2} \to \dots \to H_{i_r} \to H_2$$

which connect  $H_1$  to  $H_2$ . The relation  $\preccurlyeq$  is reflexive, antisymmetric and transitive. So  $(\mathcal{C}_p, \preccurlyeq)$ , as a totally ordered set, is a lattice presented by (43)

, such that  $H(X_1)$  is the greatest lower bound of this lattice. For any pair  $\{H_1, H_2\}$  in  $(\mathcal{C}_p, \preccurlyeq)$ , if  $H_1 \preccurlyeq H_2$  then define  $H_1 \land H_2 := H_1$  and  $H_1 \lor H_2 := H_2$ .

The lattice (43) encodes a collection of intermediate qft-states generated by the equations  $\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}$  with respect to the initial basic qft-state  $\gamma^p$ . These intermediate qft-states are occupied by virtual particles in Feynman diagrams which contribute to solutions of  $\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}$  and their partial sums. The

grafting operators in the structures of these solutions show that these intermediate qft-states are entangled. Therefore, thanks to Theorems 2.11 and 2.12, the tower  $\{DSE_p^{(j)}\}_{j\geq 1}$  together with its corresponding lattice  $(\mathcal{C}_p, \preccurlyeq)$ presents an information transition package between an infinite number of virtual particles at intermediate qft-states which are entangled with the particle p at the initial basic qft-state  $\gamma^p$ .

Remark 3.2. Following notations of Theorem 3.1 and its Proof, suppose  $DSE'_p$  is another combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation defined by a family  $\{\gamma'_n\}_{n\geq 1}$  of 1PI primitive Feynman diagrams such that  $\gamma^p \in \{\gamma'_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ . Consider  $\{DSE'_p^{(j)}\}_{j\geq 1}$  and  $(\mathcal{C}'_p,\preccurlyeq)$  as the tower and lattice built by the initial equation  $DSE'_p$  via the procedure given in Proof of Theorem 3.1.

- If equations  $\text{DSE}_p$  and  $\text{DSE}'_p$  are weakly isomorphic, i.e.  $d_{\text{cut}}(X_{\text{DSE}_p}, X_{\text{DSE}'_p}) = 0$ , then the lattices  $(\mathcal{C}_p, \preccurlyeq)$  and  $(\mathcal{C}'_p, \preccurlyeq)$  are isomorphic.
- If  $d_{\text{cut}}(X_{\text{DSE}_p}, X_{\text{DSE}'_p}) \neq 0$ , then  $\{\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}\}_{j\geq 1}$  and  $\{\text{DSE}_p^{',(j)}\}_{j\geq 1}$  determine different information transition packages.

**Corollary 3.3.** Following notations of Theorem 3.1, set  $\mathbb{R}^p$  as the collection of Feynman diagrams in  $\Phi$  which contribute to solutions of all combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations of the type  $\text{DSE}_p$  with the corresponding tower  $\{\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}\}_{j\geq 1}$ . Its completion with respect to the cut-distance topology is presented by  $\overline{\mathbb{R}^p}$ .

- Thanks to Definition 2.3, Theorems 2.11 and 2.12 and Corollary 2.13, the lattice (C<sub>p</sub>, ≼) encodes quantum entanglement between all (virtual) particles which contribute to the region R<sup>p</sup> at states generated by the basic qft-state γ<sup>p</sup>.
- Thanks to Theorem 2.12 and Corollary 2.13, the cut-distance topological region  $\overline{R^p}$  determines a space-time region which contains the particle p and all virtual particles which interact with p at intermediate qft-states.

**Theorem 3.4.** Quantum entanglement between space-time separated particles p at a basic qft-state  $\gamma^p$  and q at a basic qft-state  $\gamma^q$  in a (strongly coupled) interacting gauge field theory  $\Phi$  can be encoded by a lattice of Hopf sub-subalgebras derived from solutions of quantum motions at qft-states originated from  $\gamma^p$ ,  $\gamma^q$  and the vacuum state.

*Proof.* Thanks to Definition 2.3, Theorems 2.11, 2.12 and 3.1 and Corollaries 2.13, 3.3, consider combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations  $\text{DSE}_p$  defined by a family  $\{\gamma_n\}_{n\geq 1}$  of 1PI Feynman diagrams such that  $\gamma^p \in \{\gamma_n\}_{n\geq 1}$  and  $\text{DSE}_q$  defined by a family  $\{\gamma'_n\}_{n\geq 1}$  of 1PI Feynman diagrams such that  $\gamma^q \in \{\gamma'_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ . The grafting operators  $B^+_{\gamma^p}$  and  $B^+_{\gamma^q}$  generate some general qft-states occupied by some virtual particles which interact with p and q.

We determine topological regions such as  $R^{c_{pq}}$  in  $H^{\text{cut}}_{\text{FG}}(\Phi)$  such that

(44) 
$$\overline{R^p} \cap \overline{R^{c_{pq}}} \neq \emptyset , \ \overline{R^q} \cap \overline{R^{c_{pq}}} \neq \emptyset .$$

Thanks to the metric (11), define a distance between topological regions  $\overline{R^p}$ and  $\overline{R^q}$  in  $H^{\text{cut}}_{\text{FG}}(\Phi)$  given by

(45) 
$$d(\overline{R^p}, \overline{R^q}) := \inf\{d_{\text{cut}}(X, Y) : X \in \overline{R^p}, Y \in \overline{R^q}\}$$

Thanks to Theorem 2.12 and Corollary 2.13, for  $d(\overline{R^p}, \overline{R^q}) > 0$ , there exist some  $j_1, j_2$  with the corresponding combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations  $\text{DSE}_p^{(j_1)}$  and  $\text{DSE}_q^{(j_2)}$  such that up to the weakly isomorphic relation and cut-distance topology,

(46) 
$$X_{\text{DSE}_p^{(j_1)}} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^n X_k^{(j_1)}, \quad X_{\text{DSE}_q^{(j_2)}} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^n X_k^{(j_2)},$$

(47) 
$$d(\overline{R^p}, \overline{R^q}) = d_{\text{cut}}(X_{\text{DSE}_p^{(j_1)}}, X_{\text{DSE}_q^{(j_2)}}) > 0 \ .$$

For each  $\epsilon > 0$ , consider Hochschild one-cocycles of the type  $B^+_{\gamma^{\epsilon}_{n,p}}$ ,  $n \ge 1$  with the following properties.

• Each  $\gamma_n^{\epsilon}$  is a finite primitive (1PI) Feynman diagram such that

(48)  $\forall n \ge 1, \ \gamma_n^{\epsilon} \notin R^p, \ \gamma_n^{\epsilon} \notin R^q, \ \gamma_n^{\epsilon} \in H_{\mathrm{FG}}(\Phi) \ .$ 

•  $\text{DSE}_p^{\epsilon}$  is a combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation defined by the family  $\{B_{\gamma_n^{\epsilon},p}^+\}_{n\geq 1}$  and with the unique solution  $X_{\epsilon}^p = \sum_{n\geq 0} X_n^{(\epsilon)p}$  for  $\lambda g = 1$ . There exists  $N_{\epsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for each  $n \geq N_{\epsilon}$ , we have  $d_{\text{cut}}(X_n^{(j_1)}, X_n^{(\epsilon)p}) < \epsilon$ . The triangle inequality of the cut distance metric leads us to

(49) 
$$d_{\text{cut}}(X_{\text{DSE}_p^{(j_1)}}, X_{\epsilon}^p) < \epsilon \; .$$

For each  $\epsilon > 0$ , consider Hochschild one-cocycles of the type  $B_{\eta_n^{\epsilon},q}^+$ ,  $n \ge 1$  with the following properties.

• Each  $\eta_n^{\epsilon}$  is a finite primitive (1PI) Feynman diagram such that

(50) 
$$\forall n \ge 1, \quad \eta_n^{\epsilon} \notin R^p, \quad \eta_n^{\epsilon} \notin R^q, \quad \eta_n^{\epsilon} \in H_{\mathrm{FG}}(\Phi)$$

•  $\mathrm{DSE}_q^{\epsilon}$  is a combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation defined by the family  $\{B_{\eta_n^{\epsilon},q}^+\}_{n\geq 1}$  and with the unique solution  $X_{\epsilon}^q = \sum_{n\geq 0} X_n^{(\epsilon)q}$  for  $\lambda g = 1$ . There exists  $N'_{\epsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for each  $n \geq N'_{\epsilon}$ , we have  $d_{\mathrm{cut}}(X_n^{(j_2)}, X_n^{(\epsilon)q}) < \epsilon$ . The triangle inequality of the cut distance metric leads us to

(51) 
$$d_{\text{cut}}(X_{\text{DSE}_{c}^{(j_2)}}, X_{\epsilon}^q) < \epsilon \; .$$

Following Proof of Theorem 3.1, consider the lattices  $(\mathcal{C}_p, \preccurlyeq)$  and  $(\mathcal{C}_q, \preccurlyeq)$  of Hopf sub-subalgebras  $H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}}$  and  $H_{\text{DSE}_q^{(l)}}$  associated with towers  $\{\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}\}_j$ and  $\{\text{DSE}_q^{(l)}\}_l$  of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations generated by the initial equations  $\text{DSE}_p$  and  $\text{DSE}_q$ , respectively. Following Corollary 3.3, we have cut-distance topological regions  $\overline{R^p}$  and  $\overline{R^q}$ . They contain Feynman diagrams which contribute to solutions of the equations in the towers  $\{DSE_p^{(j)}\}_j$  and  $\{DSE_q^{(l)}\}_l$ . There exist some j, l such that equations  $DSE_p^{(j)}$  and  $DSE_q^{(l)}$  contribute to the relation (47). Set (52)  $j^* := Min\{j: d_{cut}(X_{DSE_p^{(j)}}, Y) > 0, \forall Y \in \overline{R^q}\}, l^* := Min\{l: d_{cut}(X, X_{DSE_q^{(l)}}) > 0, \forall X \in \overline{R^p}\}$ 

to define the following (sub-)lattices.

- The sub-lattice  $(\mathcal{C}_p^{j^*}, \preccurlyeq)$  is generated by the first  $j^*$  columns of the original lattice  $(\mathcal{C}_p, \preccurlyeq)$ .
- The sub-lattice  $(\mathcal{C}_q^{l^*}, \preccurlyeq)$  is generated by the first  $l^*$  columns of the original lattice  $(\mathcal{C}_q, \preccurlyeq)$ .
- original lattice (C<sub>q</sub><sup>i</sup>, ≼).
  The lattice (C<sub>cpq</sub><sup>j\*l\*</sup>, ≼) is generated by (i) Hopf (sub-)subalgebras in (C<sub>p</sub><sup>j\*</sup>, ≼) and (C<sub>q</sub><sup>l\*</sup>, ≼), (ii) Hopf (sub-)subalgebras corresponding to equations of types DSE<sub>p</sub><sup>ε</sup>, DSE<sub>q</sub><sup>ε</sup> and (iii) Hopf (sub-)subalgebras corresponding to equations of type DSE<sub>c</sub><sup>(k)</sup> with respect to a virtual particle c in the vacuum at the intermediate qft-states γ<sup>c</sup> as a linear combination of the basic qft-states γ<sup>p</sup>, γ<sup>q</sup>. Chains

(53) 
$$H_{\text{DSE}_p} \preceq H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(1)}} \preceq \dots \preceq H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(j^*)}}$$

(54) 
$$H_{\text{DSE}_q} \preceq H_{\text{DSE}_q^{(1)}} \preceq \dots \preceq H_{\text{DSE}_q^{(l^*)}}$$

in  $(\mathcal{C}_p^{j^*},\preccurlyeq)$  and  $(\mathcal{C}_q^{l^*},\preccurlyeq)$  are coupled in  $(\mathcal{C}_{c_{pq}}^{j^*l^*},\preccurlyeq)$  by one of the following sequences of Hopf algebra homomorphisms

(55) 
$$H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(j^*)}} \longrightarrow H_{\text{DSE}_p^{\epsilon}} \longrightarrow H_{\text{DSE}_c^{(k)}} \longrightarrow H_{\text{DSE}_q^{\epsilon}} \longrightarrow H_{\text{DSE}_q^{(l^*)}}$$
  
or

$$(56) \qquad H_{\mathrm{DSE}_{q}^{(l^{*})}} \longrightarrow H_{\mathrm{DSE}_{q}^{\epsilon}} \longrightarrow H_{\mathrm{DSE}_{c}^{(k)}} \longrightarrow H_{\mathrm{DSE}_{p}^{\epsilon}} \longrightarrow H_{\mathrm{DSE}_{p}^{(j^{*})}} \ .$$

*Remark* 3.5. Following notations of Theorem 3.4 and its Proof, suppose  $\text{DSE}'_p$  and  $\text{DSE}'_q$  are another combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations such that they have  $\gamma^p$  and  $\gamma^q$  in their structures, respectively, and they generate the lattice  $(\mathcal{C}_{c_{pq}}^{',j^*l^*},\preccurlyeq)$ .

- If  $\text{DSE}_p$  and  $\text{DSE}'_p$  are weakly isomorphic,  $\text{DSE}_q$  and  $\text{DSE}'_q$  are weakly isomorphic, then the lattices  $(\mathcal{C}_{c_{pq}}^{j^*l^*}, \preccurlyeq)$  and  $(\mathcal{C}_{c_{pq}}^{\prime,j^*l^*}, \preccurlyeq)$  are isomorphic.
- If  $d_{\text{cut}}(X_{\text{DSE}_p}, X_{\text{DSE}'_p}) \neq 0$  or  $d_{\text{cut}}(X_{\text{DSE}_q}, X_{\text{DSE}'_q}) \neq 0$ , then lattices  $(\mathcal{C}_{c_{pq}}^{j^*l^*}, \preccurlyeq)$  and  $(\mathcal{C}_{c_{pq}}^{\prime, j^*l^*}, \preccurlyeq)$  determine different information transition packages.

**Corollary 3.6.** Following notations in Theorems 3.1, 3.4 and Corollary 3.3, set  $R^{c_{pq}}$  as the collection of Feynman diagrams in  $\Phi$  which contribute to solutions of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations of the types  $DSE_{p}^{\epsilon}$ 

and  $\text{DSE}_q^{\epsilon}$  together with their related towers  $\{\text{DSE}_p^{\epsilon,(j)}\}_j$  and  $\{\text{DSE}_q^{\epsilon,(l)}\}_l$ . Its completion with respect to the cut-distance topology is presented by  $\overline{R^{c_{pq}}}$ .

- $\overline{R^{c_{pq}}}$  involves Feynman diagrams which contribute to solutions of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations of the type  $\text{DSE}_{c}^{(k)}$  corresponding to virtual particles c in the vacuum at intermediate qft-states originated from the basic qft-states  $\gamma^{p}$  and  $\gamma^{q}$ .
- Thanks to Definition 2.3, Theorems 2.11 and 2.12 and Corollary 2.13, the lattice  $(C_{c_{pq}}^{j^*l^*}, \preccurlyeq)$  encodes quantum entanglement between all (virtual) particles which contribute to the region  $\overline{R^{c_{pq}}}$  at states generated by the basic qft-states  $\gamma^p, \gamma^q$  and  $\gamma^c$ .
- Thanks to Theorems 2.11, 2.12 and Corollary 2.13, the cut-distance topological region  $\overline{R^p} \cup \overline{R^q} \cup \overline{R^{c_{pq}}}$  determines separated but correlated space-time regions  $U_p$ , which has p at the qft-state  $\gamma^p$  and  $U_q$ , which has q at the qft-state  $\gamma^q$ .

# 4. Intermediate algorithms associated with quantum Entanglement

On the one hand, intermediate structures between programs and computable functions are studied in terms of Galois theory [41, 42] where intermediate algorithmic structures are concerned on the basis of automorphisms of programs. Galois theory is useful to explain the way that a subobject sits inside an object. The fundamental theorem of Galois theory of algorithms allows us to formulate a bijective correspondence between subgroups of the group of all automorphisms and intermediate algorithmic structures. On the other hand, combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations are important source of graded Hopf subalgebrs in gauge field theories. In the dual setting, it is possible to generate Lie subgroups from these Hopf subalgebras. The Hopf subalgebra  $H_{\text{DSE}}$  of an equation DSE is a Hopf ideal in the renormalization Hopf algebra. The dual of the quotient Hopf algebra  $H_{\rm FG}(\Phi)/H_{\rm DSE}$  determines a Lie subgroup of the Lie group  $\mathbb{G}_{FG}(\mathbb{C})$  of diffeographisms of the physical theory. Thanks to the Manin approach to Halting problem via the BPHZ perturbative renormalization [20, 21], a theory of computation for non-perturbative parameters is introduced and developed. [25, 26, 27, 32]

In this section, we are going to lift lattices of Hopf sub-subalgebras given by Theorems 3.1 and 3.4 onto Lie groups. This new setting is useful to study quantum entanglement in gauge field theories in terms of flowcharts and intermediate algorithms in theory of computation.

**Corollary 4.1.** There exists a lattice of Lie subgroups which encodes the quantum entanglement between a particle p at a basic qft-state  $\gamma^p$  and virtual particles at intermediate qft-states originated from  $\gamma^p$  in an interacting gauge field theory  $\Phi$ .

*Proof.* Following notations in Proof of Theorem 3.1, consider the lattice  $(\mathcal{C}_p, \preceq)$  corresponding to the combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation DSE<sub>p</sub>.

For each arbitrary pair of objects  $H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(k)}} \preceq H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(l)}}$ , there exists the natural injective Hopf algebra homomorphism  $i_{kl}: H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(k)}} \longrightarrow H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(l)}}$ . It determines the surjective morphism  $\tilde{i}_{kl}: \text{Spec}(H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(l)}}) \longrightarrow \text{Spec}(H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(k)}})$  of affine group schemes with respect to the contravariant functor Spec.

For each  $H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(k)}}$ , the affine group scheme  $\text{Spec}(H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(k)}})$  is a representable covariant functor from the category of commutative algebras to the category of groups. Set

(57) 
$$G_{\text{DSE}_p^{(k)}} = \text{Spec}(H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(k)}})(\mathbb{C}) = \text{Hom}(H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(k)}}, \mathbb{C})$$

as the complex Lie group of characters corresponding to  $H_{\text{DSE}_{+}^{(k)}}$ .

Follow the lattice (43) to define a new lattice  $(\mathcal{G}_p, \succeq)$  of Lie subgroups in terms of the binary relation

(58) 
$$G_s \succeq G_t \iff \exists G_1, ..., G_r \in \mathcal{G}_p$$

such that there exist surjective group homomorphisms

(59) 
$$G_s \to G_1 \to G_2 \to \dots \to G_r \to G_t$$

which connect  $G_s$  to  $G_t$ . For each  $n \ge 1$ , consider  $G(X_1^j, ..., X_n^j)$  as the Lie subgroup corresponding to the free commutative graded Hopf sub-subalgebra  $H(X_1^j, ..., X_n^j)$  of  $H_{\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}}$ . The lattice  $(\mathcal{G}_p, \succeq)$  is presented by (60)



**Corollary 4.2.** There exists a lattice of Lie subgroups which encodes the quantum entanglement between space-time separated particles p at a basic qft-state  $\gamma^p$  and q at a basic qft-state  $\gamma^q$  in a (strongly coupled) interacting gauge field theory  $\Phi$ .

*Proof.* It is a direct result of Theorem 3.4 and Corollary 4.1. Following notations in Proof of Theorem 3.4, consider the lattice  $(\mathcal{C}_{c_{pq}}^{j^*l^*}, \preceq)$ . Lift the increasing chains (53), (54) onto groups to obtain the following decreasing

chains of Lie groups.

(61) 
$$G_{\text{DSE}_p^{(j^*)}} \ge G_{\text{DSE}_p^{(j^*-1)}} \ge \dots \ge G_{\text{DSE}_p^{(1)}} \ge G_{\text{DSE}_p}$$

(62) 
$$G_{\text{DSE}_q^{(l^*)}} \ge G_{\text{DSE}_q^{(l^*-1)}} \ge \dots \ge G_{\text{DSE}_q^{(1)}} \ge G_{\text{DSE}_q}$$

These chains can be coupled to each other by using one of the following group homomorphisms

(63) 
$$G_{\mathrm{DSE}_q^{(l^*)}} \longrightarrow G_{\mathrm{DSE}_q^{\epsilon}} \longrightarrow G_{\mathrm{DSE}_c^{(k)}} \longrightarrow G_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{\epsilon}} \longrightarrow G_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(j^*)}}$$

or

$$(64) \qquad G_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(j^*)}} \longrightarrow G_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{\epsilon}} \longrightarrow G_{\mathrm{DSE}_c^{(k)}} \longrightarrow G_{\mathrm{DSE}_q^{\epsilon}} \longrightarrow G_{\mathrm{DSE}_q^{(l^*)}} \; .$$

 $G_{ ext{DSE}_c^{(k)}}$  is the complex Lie group corresponding to  $H_{ ext{DSE}_c^{(k)}}$  of the equation  $ext{DSE}_c^{(k)}$  with respect to a virtual particle c in the vacuum at an intermediate qft-state as a linear combination of basic qft-states  $\gamma^p, \gamma^q$ . Now build a new lattice  $(\mathcal{G}_{c_{pq}}^{j^*l^*}, \succeq)$  of Lie subgroups generated by objects of the lattices  $(\mathcal{G}_p^{j^*}, \succeq)$ ,  $(\mathcal{G}_q^{l^*}, \succeq)$  together with Lie subgroups corresponding to Hopf subalgebras of types  $H_{ ext{DSE}_p^{\epsilon}}, H_{ ext{DSE}_q^{\epsilon}}$  and  $H_{ ext{DSE}_c^{(k)}}$ .

## 5. A RENORMALIZATION GROUP SETTING FOR QUANTUM ENTANGLEMENT

The Connes–Kreimer Hopf algebraic renormalization has been lifted onto a universal categorical setting by Connes and Marcolli where they have encoded perturbative renormalization of gauge field theories in the language of differential Galois theory. They built a universal category of flat equisingular vector bundles which can encode counterterms and Renormalization Groups of physical theories [9]. This categorical setting has been also developed for the study of quantum motions to formulate non-perturbative counterterms in terms of systems of differential equations together with singularities [32].

In this section, we show that the Connes–Marcolli category is rich enough to encode quantum entanglement in interacting gauge field theories.

**Lemma 5.1.** There exists a lattice of neutral Tannakian subcategories which encodes the quantum entanglement between a particle p at a basic qft-state  $\gamma^p$  and virtual particles at intermediate qft-states originated from  $\gamma^p$  in an interacting gauge field theory  $\Phi$ .

*Proof.* Following notations in Proofs of Theorem 3.1 and Corollary 4.1, consider the lattices  $(\mathcal{C}_p, \preceq)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_p, \succeq)$  corresponding to the combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation  $\mathrm{DSE}_p$ . For each arbitrary pair of objects  $H_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(k)}} \preceq H_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(l)}}$ , there exists the natural injective Hopf algebra homomorphism  $i_{kl}: H_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(k)}} \longrightarrow H_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(l)}}$ . It can be lifted onto the surjective group homomorphism  $i_{kl}: G_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(l)}} \longrightarrow G_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(k)}}$ .

For each  $G_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(l)}} \in (\mathcal{G}_p, \succeq)$ , set  $G_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(l)}}^* := G_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(l)}} \rtimes \mathbb{G}_m$  such that  $\mathbb{G}_m$ is the multiplicative group which acts on the original group. Consider the category  $\mathrm{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(l)}}}$  of finite dimensional representations of the complex Lie group  $G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(l)}}$  which is a neutral Tannakian category. The surjective morphism  $\overline{i}_{kl}$  transforms the representation  $\sigma : G_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(k)}} \longrightarrow GL_V$  to the representation  $\sigma \circ \overline{i}_{kl} : G_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(l)}} \longrightarrow GL_V$ . Therefore we obtain an exact fully faithful functor

(65) 
$$\operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(k)}}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_p^{(l)}}}$$

Now thanks to the lattice (60), we build a new lattice  $(\operatorname{Cat}_p, \succeq)$  of neutral Tannakian subcategories in terms of the binary relation

(66) 
$$\operatorname{Rep}_{H^*} \succeq \operatorname{Rep}_{K^*} \Leftrightarrow \exists \operatorname{Rep}_{H_1^*}, ..., \operatorname{Rep}_{H_t^*} \in \operatorname{Cat}_p$$

such that there exist exact fully faithful functors

(67) 
$$\operatorname{Rep}_{K^*} \to \operatorname{Rep}_{H_1^*} \to \dots \to \operatorname{Rep}_{H_t^*} \to \operatorname{Rep}_{H_t^*}$$

, determined by epimorphisms  $\overline{i}_{kl}$ , which connects  $\operatorname{Rep}_{K^*}$  to  $\operatorname{Rep}_{H^*}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 5.2.** There exists a lattice of neutral Tannakian subcategories which encodes the quantum entanglement between space-time separated particles pat a basic qft-state  $\gamma^p$  and q at a basic qft-state  $\gamma^q$  in a (strongly coupled) interacting gauge field theory  $\Phi$ .

*Proof.* Following notations in Proofs of Theorem 3.4, Corollary 4.2 and Lemma 5.1, consider lattices  $(\mathcal{C}_{c_{pq}}^{j^*l^*}, \preceq)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_{c_{pq}}^{j^*l^*}, \succeq)$ . Lift decreasing chains (61) and (62) onto the following chains of categories and exact fully faithful functors.

(68) 
$$\operatorname{Rep}_{G_{\mathrm{DSE}_{p}}^{*}} \leq \operatorname{Rep}_{G_{\mathrm{DSE}_{p}}^{*}} \leq \dots \leq \operatorname{Rep}_{G_{\mathrm{DSE}_{p}}^{*}} \leq \operatorname{Rep}_{G_{\mathrm{DSE}_{p}}^{*}} \leq \operatorname{Rep}_{G_{\mathrm{DSE}_{p}}^{*}}$$

(69) 
$$\operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_q}} \le \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_q^{(1)}}} \le \dots \le \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_q^{(1^*-1)}}} \le \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_q^{(1^*)}}}$$

These two chains can be coupled to each other by using one the following sequences of exact fully faithful functors. (70)

$$\begin{array}{l} \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_q}(l^*)} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_q}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_c}(k)} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_p}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_p}(j^*)} \\ \operatorname{pr}_{(71)} \\ \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_p}(j^*)} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_p}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_c}(k)} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_q}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\mathrm{DSE}_q}(l^*)} \\ \end{array}$$

This information is enough to build a new lattice  $(\operatorname{Cat}_{c_{pq}}^{j^*l^*}, \succeq)$  of neutral Tannakian subcategories which contains  $(\operatorname{Cat}_p, \succeq)$  and  $(\operatorname{Cat}_q, \succeq)$  as sublattices.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 5.3.** The Connes–Marcolli category encodes quantum entanglement in (strongly coupled) gauge field theories.

*Proof.* The universal Connes–Marcolli category is a neutral Tannakian category which is isomorphic to the category  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{U}^*}$  of all finite dimensional representations of the universal affine group scheme  $\mathbb{U}^*$ . The covariant functor  $\mathbb{U}^*$  is representable by the universal Hopf algebra of renormalization  $H_{\mathbb{U}}$ . This particular Hopf algebra is isomorphic to the linear space of noncommutative polynomials in variables  $f_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$  equipped with the shuffle product. [9]

For a gauge field theory  $\Phi$  with the renormalization Hopf algebra  $H_{\mathrm{FG}}(\Phi)$ , consider the affine group scheme  $\mathbb{G}_{\Phi}$  which is representable by  $H_{\mathrm{FG}}(\Phi)$ . The category  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{G}_{\Phi}^*}$  can be embedded in  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{U}^*}$  as a subcategory [9]. In addition, for any combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation DSE in  $\Phi$  with the corresponding Hopf subalgebra  $H_{\mathrm{DSE}}$ , consider the affine group scheme  $\mathbb{G}_{\mathrm{DSE}}$ which is representable by  $H_{\mathrm{DSE}}$ . The category  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{G}_{\mathrm{DSE}}^*}$  can be embedded in  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{U}^*}$  as a subcategory [32]. Therefore the category  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{U}^*}$  encodes physical information of perturbation and non-perturbation parts of the physical theory  $\Phi$ .

Thanks to Lemmas 5.1 and 5.2, the chains (70) and (71) of subcategories encapsulate quantum entanglement via one of the relations  $\pi_{l^*} = r_{j^*l^*}^{pq} \circ \pi_{j^*}$ or  $\pi_{j^*} = r_{l^*j^*}^{qp} \circ \pi_{l^*}$  such that

$$\pi_{j^*}: \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{U}^*} \to \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\operatorname{DSE}_p^{(j^*)}}}, \quad \pi_{l^*}: \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{U}^*} \to \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\operatorname{DSE}_q^{(l^*)}}},$$

(72) 
$$r_{j^*l^*}^{pq} : \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\operatorname{DSE}_p^{(j^*)}}} \to \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\operatorname{DSE}_q^{(l^*)}}}, \quad r_{l^*j^*}^{qp} : \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\operatorname{DSE}_q^{(l^*)}}} \to \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\operatorname{DSE}_p^{(j^*)}}}.$$

 $\operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\operatorname{DSE}_p^{(j^*)}}} \text{ and } \operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{\operatorname{DSE}_q^{(l^*)}}} \text{ can be embedded in } \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{U}^*} \text{ as subcategories.}$ 

**Corollary 5.4.** There exists a collection of mixed Tate motives which encodes quantum entanglement in a gauge field theory.

*Proof.* Rep<sub>U\*</sub> is equivalent to the category  $\mathcal{TM}_{\min}(\text{Spec } \mathcal{O}[1/N])$  of mixed Tate motives (i.e. Proposition 1.110, Corollary 1.111 in [9]). Therefore, thanks to Theorem 5.3,  $\operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{DSE_p^{(j^*)}}}$  and  $\operatorname{Rep}_{G^*_{DSE_q^{(l^*)}}}$  determine subcategories of the category  $\mathcal{TM}_{\min}(\operatorname{Spec } \mathcal{O}[1/N])$ . These subcategories contain mixed Tate motives associated with the complex Lie groups  $G_{\operatorname{DSE}_p^{(j^*)}}$  and  $G_{\operatorname{DSE}_q^{(l^*)}}$ corresponding to the equations  $\operatorname{DSE}_p^{(j^*)}$  and  $\operatorname{DSE}_q^{(l^*)}$ . □ □

Thanks to Theorem 5.3, quantum entanglement in a gauge field theory can be studied under a renormalization group. This renormalization group is useful to show the invariance of our lattice model under changing the scales of the energy.

**Corollary 5.5.** Quantum entanglement between space-time separated particles at different (intermediate or general) qft-states is invariant under changing the energy scale in a gauge field theory.

*Proof.* Following notations in Proof of Theorem 5.3, the universal Hopf algebra of renormalization  $H_{\mathbb{U}}$  is the graded dual of the universal enveloping algebra of the free graded Lie algebra  $L_{\mathbb{U}}$  which is generated by elements  $e_{-n}$  of degree -n for each n > 0. The corresponding pro-unipotent affine group scheme  $\mathbb{U}$  is determined by Milnor-Moore Theorem. The sum  $e := \sum_{n} e_{-n}$  is an element of  $L_{\mathbb{U}}$  which can be lifted onto the morphism  $\operatorname{rg} : \mathbb{G}_a \to \mathbb{U}$ . [9]

Following notations in Proofs of Theorems 3.1, 3.4 and Corollaries 4.1, 4.2, consider a basic combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equation  $\text{DSE}_p$  with the corresponding complex Lie group  $G_{\text{DSE}_p}$ . Apply Theorem 1.106 in [9] to determine a graded representation  $\tau : \mathbb{U}^*(\mathbb{C}) \to G^*_{\text{DSE}_p}$ . We apply the map  $\tau \circ \text{rg}$  to build a renormalization group  $\{F_t^{\text{DSE}_p}\}_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$  with respect to the equation  $\text{DSE}_p$ . It encodes the behavior of  $\text{DSE}_p$  under changing the energy scale during the renormalization of its solution. This framework associates a renormalization group  $\{F_t^{\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}}\}_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$  to each equation  $\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}, j \geq 1$  in the tower  $\{\text{DSE}_p^{(j)}\}_{j\geq 1}$  built by the relation (39). Follow the same process to build a tower of coupled renormalization groups with respect to the lattice  $(\mathcal{G}_{c_{pq}}^{j*l^*}, \succeq)$  given by Corollaries 4.1 and 4.2. Define a new lattice  $(\mathbf{RG}_{c_{pq}}, \succeq)$ of renormalization groups corresponding to those combinatorial Dyson– Schwinger equations which contribute to the region  $\overline{R^p} \cup \overline{R^q} \cup \overline{R^{c_{pq}}}$ .  $\Box$ 

## 6. CONCLUSION

In this research we applied the cut-distance topologically enriched renormalization Hopf algebra  $H_{\rm FG}^{\rm cut}(\Phi)$  and Feynman graphon representations of solutions of quantum motions to formulate a new lattice setting for the description of quantum entanglement in a gauge field theory  $\Phi$  as a fundamental property of cut-distance topological regions of Feynman diagrams, as space-time graphs, around particles. (See Corollaries 2.13, 3.3 and 3.6). Hopf subalgebras of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations, as particular subspaces of the renormalization Hopf algebra, are associated to space-time regions. See Theorems 2.11, 2.12, 3.1 and 3.4 and Corollary 2.13.

• Quantum entanglement is a fundamental concept in theory of quantum information where random processes are studied and developed [13, 18, 19]. Feynman graphon models led us to formulate random graph processes and homomorphism densities for the study of solutions of quantum motions [26, 28, 29]. Here we formulated the Fisher information metric on the finite dimensional subspaces of states in a gauge field theory in terms of homomorphism densities of Feynman graphons (i.e. Theorem 2.9). Then we developed our setting to associate a statistical manifold to the space of 1PI Green's functions of  $\Phi$ . The Fisher information metrics (18) and (37) and lattices of

Hopf subalgebras, Lie subgroups and Tannakian subcategories are new tools to analyze quantum entanglement in terms of correlations between cut-distance topological regions of Feynman diagrams which contribute to solutions of towers of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations. See Theorems 2.16, 3.1, 3.4 and 5.3 and Corollaries 4.1, 4.2. In addition, the computational complexities of non-perturbative solutions of combinatorial Dyson–Schwinger equations are considered where some new complexity parameters together with systems of graph languages are built and developed [25, 27]. They are useful tools to optimize the construction processes of infinite random graphs which encode solutions of quantum motions [25, 26]. Thanks to these background, it is now possible to associate some complexity parameters to correlations between separated regions in  $H_{\rm FG}^{\rm cut}(\Phi)$ . It leads us to recognize the optimal transitional processes between space-time separated particles at different qft-states.

- We built a new lattice of Lie subgroups which encodes quantum entanglement (i.e. Corollaries 4.1 and 4.2). It allows us to determine intermediate algorithms which contribute to the structure of correlations between separated regions of space-time.
- The Connes–Marcolli universal category of flat equi-singular vector bundles encodes all physical information of renormalizable physical theories and also, quantum motions via systems of differential equations [9, 32]. This category plays a fundamental role to relate quantum field theory to theory of motives. Theorem 5.3 and Corollaries 5.4 and 5.5 show that this category is rich enough to encode quantum entanglement in gauge filed theories under different energy scales.

## 7. Declarations and Acknowledgements

• The author would like to thank the Reviewer because of important suggestions and comments which were helpful to clarify the results of this work.

• The author is grateful to Max Planck Institute for Mathematics and Institut des Hautes Etudes Scientifiques for the support and hospitality during the initial study and research progress on this work.

• Research grants from Max Planck Institute for Mathematics, Vivatsgasse 7, 53111 Bonn, Germany as a Postdoctoral Researcher and Institut des Hautes Etudes Scientifiques, 91440 Bures-Sur-Yvette, France as an Invited Researcher.

• This Research has no involving Human Participants and/or Animals.

• Informed consent is not applicable.

• All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this published article.

• This version of the article has been accepted for publication, after peer review (when applicable) but is not the Version of Record and does not reflect post-acceptance improvements, or any corrections. The Version of Record is available online at:

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10958-022-06171-6 Use of this Accepted Version is subject to the publisher's Accepted Manuscript terms of use

## https://www.springernature.com/gp/open-research/policies/accepted-manuscript-terms

## References

- C. Brouder, Quantum field theory meets Hopf algebra, Mathematische Nachrichten, Vol. 282, no. 12, 1664–1690, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1002/mana.200610828
- M. Blasone, F. DellAnno, S. De Siena, F. Illuminati, Entanglement in Quantum Field Theory: particle mixing and oscillations, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. (442) 012070, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/442/1/012070
- M. Blasone, F. DellAnno, S. De Siena, F. Illuminati, A field-theoretical approach to entanglement in neutrino mixing and oscillations, EPL (106) 30002, 2014. https: //doi.org/10.1209/0295-5075/106/30002
- [4] D.J. Broadhurst, D. Kreimer, Renormalization automated by Hopf algebra, J. Symb. Comput. 27, no. 6, 581–600, 1999. https://doi.org/10.1006/jsco.1999.0283
- [5] C. Borgs, J.T. Chayes, H. Cohn, N. Holden, Sparse exchangeable graphs and their limits via graphon processes, J. Mach. Learn. Res. 18, Paper No. 210, 71 pp, 2017. https://www.jmlr.org/papers/v18/16-421.html
- [6] B. Bollobas, O. Riordan, Metrics for sparse graphs, in S. Huczynska, J. D. Mitchell, and C. M. Roney-Dougal, eds., Surveys in combinatorics 2009, pages 211–287, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. 365, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09781107325975.009
- [7] P. Calabrese, J.L. Cardy, Entanglement entropy and quantum field theory, J. Stat. Mech., P06002, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-5468/2004/06/P06002
- [8] H. Casini, M. Huerta, A finite entanglement entropy and the c-theorem, Phys. Lett. B, 600, Issue 1-2, 142-150, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2004.08.072
- [9] A. Connes, M. Marcolli, Noncommutative geometry, quantum fields and motives, Colloquium Publications, Amer. Math. Soc., Vol. 55, 2008. https://bookstore.ams.org/coll-55
- [10] L. Foissy, Faa di Bruno subalgebras of the Hopf algebra of planar trees from combinatorial Dyson-Schwinger equations, Adv. Math. 218(1), 136-162, 2008. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.aim.2007.12.003
- [11] C. Gallaro, R. Chatterjee, A modular operator approach to entanglement of causally closed regions, Int J Theor Phys 61, 221(2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10773-022-05211-w
- [12] S. Janson, Graphons, cut norm and distance, couplings and rearrangements, NYJM Monographs, Volume 4, 2013. https://nyjm.albany.edu/m/2013/4v.pdf
- [13] A. Khrennikov, Entanglement's dynamics from classical stochastic process, Europhysics letters, 88(4), Article ID: 40005, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1209/0295-5075/88/40005

- [14] D. Kreimer, Algebraic structures in local QFT, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl., Vol. 205–206, 122–128, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysbps.2010.08.030
- [15] D. Kreimer, Anatomy of a gauge theory, Annals Phys. 321, 2757–2781, 2006. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.aop.2006.01.004
- [16] D. Kreimer, Structures in Feynman graphs: Hopf algebras and symmetries, In Graphs and patterns in mathematics and theoretical physics, Sympos. Pure Math. 73, 43–78, 2005. https://doi.org/10.1090/pspum/073/2131011
- [17] D. Kreimer, New mathematical structures in renormalizable quantum field theories, Annals Phys. 303, 179-202, 2003. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-4916(02) 00023-4
- [18] A. Khrennikov, T. Bourama (Ed.), Quantum Foundations, Probability and Information, Springer International Publishing, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-74971-6
- [19] A. Khrennikov, K. Svozil (Eds.), Quantum Probability and Randomness, Entropy, 2019. https://doi.org/10.3390/books978-3-03897-715-5
- [20] Y.I. Manin, Renormalization and computation I: Motivation and background, OP-ERADS 2009, Semin. Congr., Vol. 26, 181–222, Societe Mathematique, France, Paris, 2013. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.0904.4921
- [21] Y.I. Manin, Renormalization and computation II: time cutoff and the halting problem, Math. Struct. Comput. Sci. 22(05), 729-751, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0960129511000508
- [22] V.P. Nair, Quantum Field Theory: a modern perspective, Graduate Texts in Contemporary Physics, Springer, 2005. https://doi.org/10.1007/b106781
- [23] L. Pezze, A. Smerzi, Entanglement, nonlinear dynamics, and the Heisenberg limit, Phys. Rev. Lett., 102(10), 100401, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 102.100401
- [24] H. Reeh, S. Schlieder, Bemerkungen zur unitaraquivalenz von lorentzinvarianten feldern, Nuovo Cim 22, 1051–1068, 1961. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02787889
- [25] A. Shojaei-Fard, Non-perturbative graph languages, halting problem and complexity, Forum Mathematicum, Vol. 34, Issue 5, 1159–1185, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1515/ forum-2021-0119
- [26] A. Shojaei-Fard, Halting problem in Feynman graphon processes derived from the renormalization Hopf algebra, Bull. Transilv. Univ. Braşov Ser. III. Math. Comput. Sci. 2(64), no. 1, 139–158, 2022. https://doi.org/10.31926/but.mif.2022.2.64.1.10
- [27] A. Shojaei-Fard, The complexities of nonperturbative computations, Russ. J. Math. Phys., Vol. 28, No. 3, 358-376, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1061920821030092
- [28] A. Shojaei-Fard, The dynamics of non-perturbative phases via Banach bundles, Nuclear Physics B, 969(2021) 115478, 39 pages. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nuclphysb.2021.115478
- [29] A. Shojaei-Fard, The analytic evolution of Dyson-Schwinger equations via homomorphism densities, Math Phys Anal and Geom, Vol. 24, No. 2, Article number 18 (28 pages), 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11040-021-09389-z
- [30] A. Shojaei-Fard, Formal aspects of non-perturbative Quantum Field Theory via an operator theoretic setting, Intern. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys., Vol. 16, No. 12, 1950192 (23 pages), 2019. https://doi.org/10.1142/S0219887819501925
- [31] A. Shojaei-Fard, Non-perturbative β-functions via Feynman graphons, Modern Phys. Lett. A, Vol. 34, No. 14, 1950109 (10 pages), 2019. https://doi.org/10.1142/ S0217732319501098
- [32] A. Shojaei-Fard, A new perspective on intermediate algorithms via the Riemann-Hilbert correspondence, Quantum Stud.: Math. Found., Vol. 4, Issue 2, 127–148, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40509-016-0088-4

- [33] A. Shojaei-Fard, A measure theoretic perspective on the space of Feynman diagrams, Bol. Soc. Mat. Mex. (3) 24, no. 2, 507–533, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40590-017-0166-6
- [34] A. Shojaei-Fard, Graphons and renormalization of large Feynman diagrams, Opuscula Math. 38, no. 3, 427–455, 2018. https://doi.org/10.7494/0pMath.2018.38.3.427
- [35] Y. Shi, Entanglement in relativistic Quanum Field Theory, Phys. Rev. D. art. no. 105001, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.70.105001
- [36] F. Strocchi, An introduction to non-perturbative foundations of Quantum Field Theory, International Series of Monographs on Physics, Oxford University Press, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199671571.001.0001
- [37] R.F. Streater, A.S. Wightman, PCT, Spin and Statistics, and All That, Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400884230
- [38] W.D. van Suijlekom, Renormalization of gauge fields: A Hopf algebra approach, Commun. Math. Phys., 276:773-798, 2007. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-007-0353-9
- [39] S. Weinzierl, Hopf algebras and Dyson-Schwinger equations, Front. Phys. 11, no.3, 111206, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11467-016-0562-9
- [40] E. Witten, APS medal for exceptional achievement in research: invited article on entanglement properties of quantum field theory, Rev. Mod. Phys. 90(4), 045003, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.90.045003
- [41] N.S. Yanofsky, Towards a definition of an algorithm, J. Logic Comput. 21(2), 253-286, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1093/logcom/exq016
- [42] N.S. Yanofsky, Galois theory of algorithms, In: Baskent, C., Moss, L., Ramanujam, R. (eds) Rohit Parikh on Logic, Language and Society. Outstanding Contributions to Logic, Vol. 11, 323-347, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-47843-2\_17 E-mail address: shojaeifa@yahoo.com

1461863596 Marzdaran Blvd., Tehran, Iran.

ORCID ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6418-3227